## WHITE PAPER

JANUARY 2021

## AIR QUALITY IMPACTS OF PALM BIODIESEL IN INDONESIA

Jane O'Malley, Stephanie Searle, and Tenny Kristiana

www.theicct.org communications@theicct.org twitter @theicct



## ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

This study was generously supported by the David and Lucile Packard Foundation and the Norwegian Agency for Development Cooperation (NORAD). Thanks to Francisco Posada for his review.

International Council on Clean Transportation 1500 K Street NW, Suite 650, Washington, DC 20005

 $communications @theicct.org \mid www.theicct.org \mid @TheICCT$ 

 $\ensuremath{\textcircled{\sc c}}$  2021 International Council on Clean Transportation

## EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

Since 2008, the production and consumption of palm biodiesel has significantly expanded across Indonesia, and it is now widely used in the transportation, industrial, and power sectors. This was facilitated by rising domestic biofuel blend mandates and high demand from overseas markets. In 2019, Indonesia blended palm biodiesel into conventional (fossil) diesel fuel at a 20% rate (B20) and blend rates are expected to continue increasing. Indonesia's Ministry of Energy and Mineral Resources (MEMR) announced the implementation of B30 this year, and there is interest in increasing targets up to B100, or pure biodiesel, in the future.

Meanwhile, poor air quality is a large concern in Indonesian cities, including Jakarta. To combat this, the government has implemented vehicle emission standards for pollutants known to be detrimental to human health including nitrogen oxides (NO<sub>x</sub>), particulate matter (PM), unburned hydrocarbons (HC), and carbon monoxide (CO); these standards set maximum limits for pollutants in vehicle exhaust. The government plans to update the current Euro 2/II standards for diesel vehicles to Euro 4/IV to be fully implemented in 2022. In this paper, we investigate how the government's goal of increasing biodiesel blending will impact vehicle emissions.

We conduct a meta-analysis based on a literature review of 132 vehicle emission studies that tested tailpipe pollutant concentrations for  $NO_x$ , PM, HC, and CO. We compare the vehicle exhaust emissions from combusting biodiesel blends with the emissions from running identical tests on diesel fuel to calculate the emissions effect, or percent change in emissions from biodiesel relative to baseline diesel fuel. Where there are sufficient data, we present results from a subset of 28 studies conducted on biodiesel produced from palm oil, the predominant feedstock in Indonesia.

We run numerous linear regressions to test the effect of biodiesel blend level on vehicle exhaust emissions for different types of feedstocks, vehicle test cycles, exhaust aftertreatment systems, diesel sulfur levels, and fuel injection systems. When considering all 132 studies, we find that combusting pure palm biodiesel (B100) in vehicles increases NO<sub>x</sub> by 8% compared to conventional diesel, on average. This NO<sub>x</sub> increase is proportional to the biodiesel blend level; for example, we find that B50 increases NO<sub>y</sub> by 4%.

However, a portion of the results in the dataset are from studies conducted decades ago on outdated engines using low-quality fuel. Indonesia has already begun the transition to more modern common rail diesel engines and has anounced targets for implementation of stricter limits on sulfur in fuel. Filtering our data to assess only studies reflecting these two modern developments, we find that palm biodiesel can be expected to increase NO<sub>x</sub> to a much greater extent than when analyzing the whole of the literature. Figure ES1 shows a compilation of test results for the NO<sub>x</sub> increase in palm biodiesel blends compared to diesel specifically for lower sulfur fuels ( $\leq$ 50 parts per million sulfur content) and modern engines. The trend line shows the statistically significant increase in the biodiesel NO<sub>x</sub> effect relative to biodiesel blend level based on a regression analysis, and the shaded cone shows standard error. Based on this, we expect NO<sub>x</sub> emissions from modern diesel engines, including vehicles adherent to Euro 4/IV emission standards, to increase 12%, 17%, and 41% for B30, B40, and B100, respectively, in Indonesia. Still, given the large variation in the dataset, there is uncertainty as to the precise magnitude of the biodiesel NO<sub>x</sub> effect.



**Figure ES1.** Predicted palm biodiesel  $NO_x$  effect for modern Indonesian diesel engines.

The findings suggest that palm biodiesel is expected to increase  $NO_x$  emissions compared to conventional diesel in both old and new engines, and the effect is more pronounced in newer vehicles and with lower-sufur fuels. Moreover, although palm biodiesel may improve HC, CO, and PM emissions compared to conventional diesel, these benefits are reduced in more modern vehicles.

## TABLE OF CONTENTS

| Executive Summary                                    | i  |
|--|----|
| Introduction   | 1  |
| Background   | 3  |
| Methodology  | 4  |
| Results and discussion                               | 5  |
| FAME feedstock properties                            | 6  |
| Emission test cycles                                 | 9  |
| New developments                                     | 10 |
| Overall biodiesel air pollution impacts on Indonesia | 15 |
| References   | 16 |
| Appendix A – Emissions formation summary table       | 25 |
| Appendix B – Full study list                         | 26 |
| Appendix C – Emission test cycles summary            | 32 |

## INTRODUCTION

Indonesia is the fourth most populous country in the world and has a growing vehicle fleet (Shao, Miller, & Jin, 2020). Biodiesel makes up roughly 20% of the country's fuel market, and because of large domestic palm oil reserves, crude palm oil (CPO) is the primary feedstock used. Although diesel fuel consumption in the transportation sector declined between 2010 and 2015, this trend has since reversed (McDonald & Rahmanulloh, 2019). Biodiesel consumption has also scaled up quickly. Its use is bolstered by the national CPO fund, which subsidizes palm biodiesel using funds from a levy collected on exports of palm oil and palm products (Rifin, 2010). Blend mandates were first incorporated under Ministry of Energy and Mineral Resources (MEMR) Regulation 32, and they rose to 30% in 2020 under MEMR Regulation 12/2015.

More than half of Indonesians live in urban centers (Organisation for Economic Cooperation and Development & International Energy Agency, 2017) and air quality is of particular concern in densely packed regions with high mobility. Indonesia has one of the highest rates of deaths attributed to outdoor air pollution globally; one study found the country accounted for one-third of all deaths related to outdoor air pollution in Southeast Asia in 2017 (Health Effects Institute, 2019). Greenstone and Fan (2019) estimated that fine particulate matter (PM) reduces life expectancy by at least 1.2 years on average across the country. That study also found that vehicle emissions accounted for more than 30% of fine PM emissions and 70% of larger or coarse PM emissions in Jakarta in 2008 and 2009.

There is strong evidence that nitrogen oxides (NO<sub>2</sub>), PM, carbon monoxide (CO), and unburned hydrocarbons (HC) have adverse health effects. NO, contributes to smog and ozone formation that are detrimental to visibility and respiratory health (U.S. Environmental Protection Agency [EPA], 2015). Long-term ozone exposure increases the risk of death from respiratory causes (Jerrett et al., 2009) and short-term exposure can result in hospitalization from asthma and other respiratory illnesses (Burnett et al., 2001). One report on vehicle emissions and mortality estimated that NO, emissions, a precursor for secondary PM and ozone production, were responsible for more than 100,000 premature deaths worldwide in 2015 (Anenberg et al., 2017). PM, also a byproduct of combustion, is additionally linked to premature mortality as well as respiratory and cardiovascular disease. Unburned HC compounds such as formaldehyde are classified as "probable human carcinogens" while exposure to CO, an intermediate compound formed during incomplete combustion, impacts cardiovascular health by limiting the blood's ability to carry oxygen. The groups most vulnerable to air pollutant exposure are children, the elderly, and those with preexisting conditions (U.S. Environmental Protection Agency [EPA], 2015).

To address air pollution concerns, Indonesia's Ministry of Environment and Forestry adopted Euro 2/II emission standards for heavy-duty and light-duty vehicles in 2010 and 2011, respectively, as part of MoEF Regulation No. 04/2009. Euro 4/IV equivalent standards were adopted for gasoline vehicles in 2018 under regulation number P. 20/ MENLHK/SETJEN/KUM. 1/3/2017 and will apply to diesel vehicles beginning in 2022, after a one-year delay. To comply with Euro 4/IV emission standards, changes to the diesel market are expected to be twofold: greater use of advanced emission control technologies and the phase out of high-sulfur diesel. Although today 96.5% of the diesel fuel sold has a rated sulfur content of 2,500 parts per million (ppm), under Euro 4/IV, fuel sulfur content is limited to 50 ppm (Shao et al., 2020). Moving forward, the Directorate General of Oil and Gas has set a 50 ppm fuel target for 2025, reduced from a 500 ppm target beginning in 2021 (Directorate General of Oil and Gas Decision No. 3674K/24/DJM/2006 and 3675K/24/DJM/2006). Because the 2025 sulfur target is three years later then the planned implementation of Euro 4/IV vehicle standards,

proper labeling of fuels at the pump and compliance and enforcement will be important during the early years of Euro 4/IV.

As Indonesia simultaneously moves toward more advanced vehicle emission standards, lower sulfur limits, and palm biodiesel expansion, it is important to understand the impact increasing palm biodiesel blending will have on vehicle emissions. This study builds on a 2018 ICCT paper that analyzed the effects of biodiesel blending on air pollutant emissions in Indonesia (Searle & Bitnere, 2018). In this update, we incorporate 84 new biodiesel performance and exhaust emission studies, 28 conducted on palm oil and nine conducted in Indonesia or Malaysia, and compile results into a meta-analysis. This study also focuses on vehicle driving conditions, emission control technologies, and physicochemical fuel properties.

## BACKGROUND

Research on biodiesel exhaust emissions over the past 20 years is extensive. The U.S. EPA (2002) published a seminal study that found a 2.2% increase in  $NO_x$  emissions for 20% biodiesel blends (B20) relative to pure, conventional diesel fuel, and a reduction in HC, CO, and PM emissions across biodiesel blend levels. A decade later, EPA's findings were supported by an analysis conducted by Hoekman and Robbins (2012). Their metaanalysis followed methodology similar to that used by the EPA but restricted data to medium- and heavy-duty four-stroke engines from model year 1987 onward.

Although the literature is largely in agreement that biodiesel increases NO, emissions, the cause for this trend is attributed to numerous theoretical mechanisms (Hoekman & Robbins, 2012). The most well understood mechanism by which biodiesel might increase NO, emissions relates to the timing of fuel injection. Biodiesel has higher density and bulk modulus than conventional diesel and thus is compressed to a lesser extent when injected into a diesel engine.<sup>1</sup> This leads to faster injection and a longer period of time between when the fuel enters the combustion chamber and when ignition occurs; this is known as the ignition delay. An extended ignition delay means there is more time for biodiesel blends to mix with air prior to combustion. The greater air-fuel mixing leads to more rapid and complete combustion, which is followed by increased in-cylinder pressure and temperature (Heywood, 1988). Although NO, formation increases exponentially with combustion temperature, the ignition delay alone does not explain the increase in NO, with biodiesel blends. Studies have found that when the ignition delay is tightly controlled, either by mechanical changes that delay injection timing or chemical changes such as increasing the cetane number (CN) of the fuel, biodiesel blends still produce higher NO, (Monyem & Gerpen, 2001). Additionally, the effects of biodiesel on the efficacy of emission control technologies and engine injection systems is not as well understood.

An analysis conducted by Searle and Bitnere (2018) on biodiesel emissions effects in Indonesia established the foundation for this study. Drawing upon results from 52 studies, the authors found that palm biodiesel blending increases  $NO_x$  and PM formation while it decreases HC and CO. They also suggested that the harmful air pollution impacts associated with biodiesel can be expected to be exacerbated as Indonesia moves toward cleaner vehicles and engine technology. Our study presents a more comprehensive meta-analysis based on a larger number of vehicle studies and analyzes trends among vehicle and fuel characteristics in greater depth. Our results are then applied to the Indonesian context considering its primary biodiesel feedstocks, driving conditions, and vehicle emission standards. Most studies on biodiesel emission effects focus on European and North American markets, but in comparison with those regions, the Indonesian vehicle market tends to be equipped with older vehicle technology, run on higher sulfur fuel, and use palm rather than soy or rapeseed feedstocks; the country also is situated in a warmer climate (Searle & Bitnere, 2018).

Our analysis also accounts for recent trends, including the implementation of advanced emission control technologies, common rail fuel injection systems, and low-sulfur diesel fuel (LSD). In addition to  $NO_x$ , our study analyzes the effects of biodiesel on HC, CO, and PM emissions.

<sup>1</sup> Bulk modulus or elasticity measures a fuel's resistance to compression.

## METHODOLOGY

This analysis includes datapoints from 132 biodiesel performance and exhaust emissions studies conducted between 1983 and 2018. Herein, biodiesel refers to fatty acid methyl esters (FAME) and not to any other alternative diesel substitutes such as hydrotreated vegetable oil (HVO). A detailed list of all performance studies is provided in Appendix B. Twenty-eight studies included tests on palm biodiesel; we analyzed those studies as a data subset. Where palm-specific data were insufficient or statistically insignificant, we included results from other feedstocks such as soy, rapeseed, and used cooking oil (UCO) and analyzed the complete dataset. A larger dataset provides greater statistical power to detect significant effects.

The emission studies analyzed were conducted on both light-duty and heavy-duty vehicles, as well as laboratory single-cylinder engines. Although the EPA omitted studies on single-cylinder engines in its 2002 meta-analysis, we found that results were consistent with those of on-road vehicle engines. Laboratory studies are conducted on a chassis dynamometer under a variety of transient and steady-state test cycles. Most studies include some information about the vehicle/engine emission control technologies such as exhaust gas recirculation and selective catalytic reduction (SCR).

From each study, we recorded exhaust emissions data for pure diesel and biodiesel blends along with their corresponding fuel properties, vehicle specifications, and test cycle conditions. We calculated the biodiesel emissions effect as the percent change in the concentration of a pollutant relative to that of pure conventional diesel fuel. By calculating the percent rather than total change, data are normalized to control for any confounding variables. After compiling all calculated datapoints, we performed a series of linear regressions setting biodiesel blend level as the independent variable.

As in Searle and Bitnere (2018), we fixed the y-intercept at 0 and interpreted statistically significant relationships when p < 0.05. Trend lines are only presented in figures when they are statistically significant. Positive trend lines indicate that biodiesel blends produce higher emissions than conventional diesel, whereas negative values indicate emissions reductions with biodiesel compared to conventional diesel. None of the 132 studies were omitted from our results, although there were numerous outliers; this could be due to faulty instrumentation, unrepresentative test cycle conditions, or human error. In cases where linear regressions were not an appropriate explanatory model, multiple regression and analysis of statistical variance (ANOVA) tests were used to detect differences between treatments.

## RESULTS AND DISCUSSION

Consistent with two other meta-analyses conducted in the last two decades, we find that, on average, palm biodiesel increases  $NO_x$  formation and decreases PM, CO, and HC. This is illustrated in Figure 1. Using a linear regression on the  $NO_x$  effect with biodiesel blend level applied to our full dataset, we find that the biodiesel  $NO_x$  effect is 8% for 100% biodiesel (B100). This result would predict a 0.8% increase in  $NO_x$  with a 10% biodiesel blend compared to conventional diesel.





For PM, we estimate a 43% reduction in emissions from B100 relative to conventional diesel fuel. Although the PM trend is significant, there is higher uncertainty in the magnitude of the biodiesel effect than for  $NO_x$ ; this is indicated by the larger cone encasing the regression trend line, which shows the standard error of the regression. There also are significant reductions in HC and CO emissions with biodiesel blending; we estimate these reductions to be 20% and 25%, respectively, for B100 compared to conventional diesel.

Regarding the effects of other variables on the relationship between biodiesel blend level and air pollutant emissions, we organize our analysis into three sections: feedstock properties, vehicle test cycle conditions, and modern developments across the diesel industry. Considering that palm oil is the dominant biodiesel feedstock in Indonesia, we narrow our results to palm-only studies when sufficient data are available.

#### FAME FEEDSTOCK PROPERTIES

Several studies have suggested that the biodiesel NO<sub>x</sub> effect is less for palm oil compared with other feedstocks (Kinoshita, Hamasaki, & Jaqin, 2003; Mormino, Verhelst, Sierens, Stevens, & De Meulenaer, 2009). This is presumably due to palm's physical characteristics, which differ from other common vegetable oils such as soy, rapeseed, and UCO. Our results also show these trends, and Table 1 indicates that palm has the lowest NO<sub>x</sub> effect across blend levels among the full set of feedstocks. The primary value reported in Table 1 represents the mean biodiesel NO<sub>x</sub> effect whereas results in parentheses represent the standard error of the regression. Data for B30 reflects near-term policy in Indonesia, B40 demonstrates the NO<sub>x</sub> effect if Indonesia were to increase its blend mandate, and B100 shows the full magnitude of the biodiesel effect.

Of the dataset, rapeseed biodiesel has the highest  $NO_x$  effect, measured to be 13.4% at 100% blend rates. We also investigate the effects of feedstock properties on HC, CO, and PM.

| NO <sub>x</sub> effect (%) | Palm           | Rapeseed                 | Soybean               | UCO            |
|----------------------------|----------------|--------------------------|-----------------------|----------------|
| B30                        | 2.4 (1.8, 2.9) | 4.0 (3.6, 4.4)           | 2.5 <i>(2.1, 3.0)</i> | 2.5 (2.0, 3.1) |
| B40                        | 3.2 (2.4, 3.9) | 5.3 (4.8, 5.9)           | 3.4 (2.8, 4.0)        | 3.4 (2.8, 3.9) |
| B100                       | 7.9 (6.1, 9.7) | 13.4 <i>(12.0, 14.7)</i> | 8.5 (7.0, 10.0)       | 8.4 (7.1, 9.7) |

Table 1. Predicted NO, effect by biodiesel feedstock and blend rate with standard error in parentheses

The difference in  $NO_x$  emissions among the various biodiesel feedstocks may be due to differences in physical properties such as density, viscosity, and CN, as detailed in Table 2. A feedstock's degree of unsaturation and fatty acid chain length is also likely to influence  $NO_x$  formation. Data for the latter two variables are drawn from Hoekman et al. (2012). The remaining parameters are sourced from property tables in the literature review and averaged by feedstock type.

#### Table 2. FAME feedstock properties

| Feedstock  | Cetane<br>number <sup>:</sup> | Density<br>(kg/m³) <sup>°</sup> | Viscosity<br>(mm²/s)՝ | <b>Unsaturation</b> <sup>*</sup> | Chain length <sup>:</sup> |
|------------|-------------------------------|---------------------------------|-----------------------|----------------------------------|---------------------------|
| Diesel     | 50.37                         | 0.836                           | 3.08                  | N/A                              | N/A                       |
| Soybean    | 51.29                         | 0.857                           | 3.54                  | 1.50                             | 17.90                     |
| Rapeseed   | 56.45                         | 0.859                           | 4.42                  | 1.31                             | 17.90                     |
| UCO        | 54.64                         | 0.860                           | 4.64                  | 1.06                             | 18.50                     |
| Animal fat | 56.65                         | 0.876                           | 3.83                  | 0.59                             | 17.30                     |
| Palm       | 57.81                         | 0.851                           | 5.01                  | 0.62                             | 17.20                     |
| Coconut    | 58.68                         | 0.875                           | 4.39                  | 0.12                             | 13.40                     |

\* Data sourced from the literature averaged by feedstock type

<sup>+</sup> Data adapted from Hoekman et al. (2012)

For all feedstocks reviewed here, biodiesel has a higher CN than conventional diesel fuel. CN is a nonphysical property representing a fuel's ignitability (Graboski, McCormick, Alleman, & Herring, 2003; Hoekman et al., 2012). CN is inversely related to the amount of time between fuel injection into the combustion chamber and ignition. Thus, fuel with a higher CN ignites faster. Biodiesel also has high oxygen

content, estimated between 10% and12% by weight, whereas conventional diesel fuel contains none (Demirbas, 2009). Although highly oxygenated fuel has lower energy content, oxygenated fuels burn more efficiently, reducing the formation of CO, an intermediate combustion compound, and unburned HCs in the exhaust stream. Oxidation also suppresses formation of PM, or "soot," in tailpipe exhaust (Wang, Li, Wang, & Reitz, 2016).

Fatty acid chain length and degree of unsaturation play a role in CN and viscosity. Average degree of unsaturation is a function of each fuel's fatty acid profile, and it is calculated by multiplying the mass percentage of fatty acid in FAME by its number of carbon double bonds (Hoekman et al., 2012). Average chain length of each biodiesel is similarly calculated by multiplying fatty acid mass percentage by the number of carbon atoms in one fatty acid chain summed across the entire profile. Saturation and chain length are also correlated with other physical properties. Mishra, Anand, and Mehta (2016) found that an increase in both fatty acid chain length and degree of saturation increases the viscosity and CN of a fuel. Higher saturated fuels also correspond with lower fuel density (Dharma, Ong, Masjuki, Sebayang, & Silitonga, 2016). An experimental study found that unsaturated feedstocks also correspond with higher soot formation because of the presence of carbon double bonds (Wang, Li, et al., 2016).

Saturated fatty acids include palm and coconut oils, and soybean and rapeseed are the least saturated FAME feedstocks in this dataset. One reason palm biodiesel has among the highest CNs of the feedstocks presented here is because of its high saturation. A high CN means that palm biodiesel ignites faster than other fuels once it arrives in the combustion chamber, and this likely counteracts, to some extent, the longer ignition delay observed in biodiesel compared to conventional diesel. Because the longer ignition delay of biodiesel is thought to be one of the main contributors to the biodiesel NO<sub>x</sub> effect, palm biodiesel's high saturation—and thus higher CN—likely explains why it is generally found to have a lower NO<sub>x</sub> effect than biodiesels produced from other feedstocks.

Biodiesel is also denser and more viscous than conventional diesel. Both properties have implications for combustion efficiency and the degree to which the fuel disperses into finer droplets (i.e., spray atomization). The effects of more viscous fuels on combustion are three-fold: poor spray atomization, which reduces combustion efficiency (Agarwal et al., 2015); increased heat of combustion (Mirhashemi & Sadrnia, 2020); and rapid pressure increases within the fuel pump (Lapuerta, Agudelo, Prorok, & Boehman, 2012). High pressure lowers the compressibility of fuels and leads to advanced injection timing. Given that biodiesel increases NO<sub>x</sub> emissions overall and that saturated fuels have particularly high viscosity but a reduced NO<sub>x</sub> effect, the impact of fuel viscosity on spray atomization does not appear to be a dominant effect on NO<sub>x</sub> formation.

Fuel density is also correlated with combustion properties, although the mechanisms are not as well understood throughout the literature. High densities are correlated with high aromatics and low CN, properties both associated with high NO<sub>x</sub> formation (Lee, Pedley, & Hobbs, 1998). Lee et al. (1998) also found that although low density has large benefits for PM and NO<sub>x</sub> reduction, it may also lead to increases in CO and HC. Changes in density also affect volumetric efficiency, which is especially relevant for older technology engines that cannot compensate for volumetric changes when injecting fuel into the combustion chamber (Bacha et al., 2007). Thus, the relationship between density and emissions may be less relevant for modern engines, which have the ability to dynamically respond to changes in injection timing and mass flow rate.

Our results show a positive correlation between density and the biodiesel  $NO_x$  effect (see Figure 2). For palm biodiesel, which has the lowest density of FAME feedstocks in the dataset, the  $NO_x$  effect is diminished, but still remains greater than that of conventional diesel fuel. In contrast with the findings in Lee et al. (1998), we find an inverse relationship between both HC, PM, and density, and no significant relationship between density and CO across our entire dataset.





In addition to the chemical makeup of a feedstock, external conditions such as storage and handling practices can alter its physical properties. Khalid et al. (2013) found that longer storage times increase the viscosity, density, and insoluble fuel impurities of feedstocks, while decreasing their iodine value, or degree of saturation. For palm oil, extended storage periods are expected to increase NO<sub>x</sub> emissions due to the higher viscosity and decreased saturation of the resulting fuel. Khalid et al. (2013) also observed that high temperature storage environments can counteract the effects of extended storage periods by mitigating increases in feedstock viscosity. However, it is unknown whether the high temperature storage environments that would typically be experienced in Indonesia could fully offset the feedstock degradation that occurs with storage.

As detailed above, feedstock properties often have competing effects on the mechanisms for conventional air pollutant formation. Physical properties are not the only parameters that affect exhaust emissions formation; therefore, we investigate the effects of additional parameters such as emission test cycles and diesel quality in the following sections.

#### **EMISSION TEST CYCLES**

Emission test cycles were developed in industry and laboratory settings to demonstrate compliance with vehicle emission standards. In addition, these test cycles are often used by researchers who are measuring air pollutant emissions from combusting biodiesel. Most test cycles simulate transient driving conditions on a chassis dynamometer by alternating engine speed and load changes dynamically. The most widely used cycle for regulatory compliance in passenger cars is the New European Driving Cycle (NEDC). For heavy-duty vehicle (HDV) engines, the European Engine Transient Cycle (ETC) and European Stationary Cycle (ESC) are used for vehicle compliance for the Euro III-V standards, and the EPA Federal Transient Procedure (FTP) cycle is used for emissions certification in the United States. Several Asian countries, including Indonesia, have adopted the NEDC. Japan, meanwhile, developed its own cycle comparable to the NEDC but, along with Europe, is moving toward the Worldwide Harmonized Light Vehicles Test Procedure (WLTP) in coming years (Yang & Rutherford, 2019). An overview of emissions test cycles used in this dataset is provided in Appendix C.

Across biodiesel vehicle emission studies, researchers found that test cycles strongly affect the rate of exhaust emissions formation (Sze, Whinihan, Olson, Schenk, & Sobotowski, 2007; Kaya, Kutlar, & Taskiran, 2018). Test cycles are intended to reflect on-road driving conditions including idling, acceleration, deceleration, and cruise periods. However, emission measurements recorded in a laboratory setting are often lower than on-road results because controlled environments do not account for external variables such as route topography and traffic patterns, and because automakers sometimes design vehicles to minimize emissions during test cycles (Brown, Harris, & King, 2000).

We grouped test cycles into urban, highway, and rural on-road driving condition categories based on the Common Artemis Driving Cycles (Baldino, Tietge, Muncrief, Bernard, & Mock, 2017; Thompson, Carder, Besch, Thiruvengadam, & McCormick, 2014). Additionally, we made several assumptions with regard to load and speed parameters and aligned test cycle data accordingly. Motorway or highway driving is defined as lengthy cruise periods at high load and speed, with little to no idling, and infrequent acceleration and deceleration periods. Rural driving exhibits some of the same characteristics as highway driving such as extended cruise periods and high speeds, but these conditions are punctuated with periods of stops and starts to adhere to turns and road signals (Wang, Lyons, Clark, Gautam, & Norton, 2000). Urban driving exhibits the highest share of idling and acceleration/deceleration periods due to heavy traffic. Urban conditions are characterized by low speeds and medium-to-high loads, and are generally associated with low horsepower (Sze et al., 2007). Vehicles may exhibit high load and horsepower during urban driving due to heavy vehicle weight class and frequent periods of acceleration. Collecting data from chassis dynamometer tests, Sze et al. (2007) found that engines exert the highest horsepower during highway conditions and city-suburban driving conditions fall within the middle of the range.

Engine load, or torque, data are presented in Figure 3 as a percentage of different engine power ratings. *Low* engine load represents between 0%, or idling conditions, and 40% capacity; *medium* load represents 40% to 70% capacity; and *high* engine load represents 70% to full load conditions. We find a higher biodiesel  $NO_x$  effect at higher engine load and lower PM and CO effects at higher load running a regression analysis on the full dataset. We observe no significant relationship between engine load and the biodiesel HC effect. Thus, we can infer that, for biodiesel, low-load driving conditions correspond with the lowest  $NO_x$  increases and highest levels of PM and CO relative to conventional diesel fuel. Trend lines even show a positive emissions effect for PM and CO at low load.





Figure 3. Emissions effects by engine load (all data).

#### **NEW DEVELOPMENTS**

In addition to FAME feedstock properties and emission test cycles, several modern advancements across the diesel industry may contribute to disparities in the emissions effect among biodiesel performance studies. These include the phase-in of low-sulfur diesel, adoption of emission control technologies, and an industry shift toward common rail direct fuel injection systems.

#### **Diesel sulfur content**

As the Indonesian diesel market moves to adopt Euro 4/IV emission standards, low-sulfur fuel (≤50 ppm) is also slated to be phased in to enable the use of emission control devices. These devices require fuel with a lower sulfur content than current market levels in Indonesia (2,500 ppm) to perform effectively. For example, exhaust gas recirculation (EGR) requires use of fuel with 500 ppm sulfur content or less to avoid pipe corrosion (Posada, Chambliss, & Blumberg, 2016). Diesel oxidation catalysts (DOCs) also require fuel with 500 ppm or less whereas diesel particulate filters (DPFs), introduced under Euro VI, perform most effectively using fuel with maximum 10 ppm sulfur content (Xie, Posada, & Minjares, 2020).

Low-sulfur fuels have also been found to exacerbate the NO<sub>x</sub> effect when blended with biodiesel. Although there is not yet a consensus on the mechanism for this phenomenon, the relationship between sulfur content and the biodiesel NO<sub>x</sub> effect is widely observed. The two variables are inversely related such that comparing biodiesel to LSD produces the highest biodiesel NO<sub>x</sub> effect while this effect is less pronounced when compared to high-sulfur diesel. Previous regressions include datapoints from a variety of diesel fuel sulfur levels, minimizing the conflation of sulfur quality with other independent variables. Below, we define high-sulfur diesel as >50 ppm whereas low-sulfur diesel is defined as  $\leq$ 50 ppm sulfur content. We observe a six-fold increase in the biodiesel NO<sub>x</sub> effect at 100% palm biodiesel between high-sulfur diesel and LSD (Figure 4).



Figure 4. Biodiesel NO, effect grouped by diesel quality (palm).

Although the relationship between sulfur content and emissions formation is often centered around PM in the literature, we identified several studies that investigated the relationship between  $NO_x$  and LSD. Alam, Song, Acharya, Boehman, and Miller (2004) found that LSD has lower density and higher CN than high-sulfur fuels. As described in Section I, these properties correspond with reduced  $NO_x$ . Because biodiesel has a higher density than petroleum diesel, when blended with low-sulfur fuel, the relative change in density is greater than with higher sulfur fuels. The biodiesel  $NO_x$  effect is thus larger when blended into low-sulfur diesel fuel due to its lower- $NO_x$  baseline.

Zhu, Zhang, Liu, and Huang (2010) found that LSD has a much lower aromatic content than higher sulfur diesel. Low aromatic content corresponds with higher CN, which reduces  $NO_x$  but may increase PM formation; this relationship is known as the soot- $NO_x$  tradeoff (Reijnders, Boot, & de Goey, 2016). The longer ignition delay for low CN fuels

leads to greater air-fuel mixing and improves combustion of aromatics, which are soot precursors. The extent to which the greater CN of biodiesel compared to diesel reduces the ignition delay and partially offsets the  $NO_x$  increase with biodiesel may be reduced when biodiesel is compared to LSD because LSD also has higher CN relative to high-sulfur diesel. However, due to the competing effects of other fuel and engine properties, it is difficult to determine causality for each of these effects.

We also observed a strong relationship between fuel sulfur content and the biodiesel PM emissions effect (see Figure 5). This effect is well understood due to increased production of sulfate aerosols during combustion for high-sulfur fuel relative to LSD (Heywood, 1988). As a result, the PM benefits of biodiesel, which contains little to no sulfur content, are expected to diminish in LSD blends. Although data are scattered, when looking at results for all feedstocks, the biodiesel PM benefits are significantly reduced for LSD compared to high-sulfur diesel. For Indonesia, the implications for public health will be significant as the country phases in LSD to comply with Euro 4/IV emission standards.



Figure 5. Biodiesel PM effect by diesel sulfur quality (palm).

#### **Emission control technologies**

Vehicle manufacturers have developed several NO<sub>x</sub> mitigation technologies to comply with increasingly stringent vehicle emission standards. EGR, one of the earliest control technologies implemented in diesel engines, reduces NO<sub>x</sub> by recycling a fraction of exhaust gas back to the engine cylinders to lower combustion temperatures. In so doing, EGR also restricts oxygen and NO<sub>x</sub> formation (López, Jiménez, Aparicio, & Flores, 2009). EGR is an effective way to reduce emissions with relative ease, but it is not by itself effective enough to comply with newer emission standards such as Euro 6/VI.

Other control technologies have been developed to reduce emissions of other conventional pollutants. For example, meeting the Euro 4/IV standard requires incorporating technologies such as DOCs to reduce HC and CO formation (López et

al., 2009). Along with DPFs, DOCs can also control PM levels in the exhaust stream. DOCs can further be used in combination with other systems such as SCR to reduce PM emissions via in-cylinder strategies (Posada et al., 2016). Although vehicle emission standards are technology-neutral rather than prescriptive, a common set of technologies used in combination is generally applied. Thus, we consider emission standards as a proxy for an ensemble of control technologies.

Consistent with the literature, we found few significant relationships between emission control technologies and the biodiesel emissions effect. We did not observe emissions effects for HC and CO and observed a small positive increase in NO<sub>x</sub> emissions for Euro 4/IV which is reversed at 100% biodiesel blend levels (see Figure 6). However, we did identify a greater reduction in PM emissions for B20, B30, and B100 versus diesel in vehicles compliant with the Euro 4/IV standard compared to those compliance with the Euro 2/II standard (see Figure 6). Czerwinski et al. (2013) found that biodiesel assists the regeneration behavior of DPFs by altering the composition of PM and the nanostructure of primary soot particles thus "reduc[ing] the temperature required to initiate regeneration" (p. 2). Although we do not have enough data on the latest Euro 6/VI standards, we expect those and later standards will exhibit a similar trend.



**Figure 6.** Left: Biodiesel  $NO_x$  effect by biodiesel blend level and emission standard (all data). Right: Biodiesel PM effect by biodiesel blend level and emission standard (all data).

#### Fuel injection systems

We identified a final variable that may alter biodiesel emission effects: fuel injection systems. Older engines use unit injectors, also called pump nozzle injectors, which assign an individual fuel pump to each cylinder (Bosch UK, 2009). Unit injectors offer a high degree of efficiency, low fuel consumption, and low-pressure injection at low speeds. However, these systems have been largely phased out in favor of common rail direct injection systems starting in 2000 (Yanowitz & McCormick, 2009).

Yanowitz and McCormick (2009) suggested that fuel injection timing may be related to the vehicle's type of fuel injection equipment. In their study, the  $NO_x$  emissions effect for B20 blends was higher for common rail injection systems than for electronic unit injectors, which were the dominant unit injector model starting in the mid-1980s.

Although the average B20 NO<sub>x</sub> effect for unit injectors hovered near zero, common rail systems exhibited a 4% increase in NO<sub>x</sub>. We grouped data by fuel injection system and ran a regression on the whole dataset and palm biodiesel subset. For palm biodiesel, we find a 66% difference between the biodiesel NO<sub>x</sub> effect for common rail and unit injector systems (see Figure 7, left). Sixteen studies that specified the type of fuel injection system used are included in the regression.



**Figure 7.** Left: Biodiesel  $NO_x$  effect by fuel injection system (palm). Right: Biodiesel  $NO_x$  effect by fuel injection system for low-sulfur diesel only (all data).

The effect of fuel injection system on the biodiesel  $NO_x$  effect could be confounded by the adoption of LSD (Yanowitz & McCormick, 2009); thus, we also ran another regression controlling for fuel sulfur level (see Figure 7, right). We performed this regression on the entire dataset because there were not enough palm-specific data when filtered by sulfur content and engine injection system parameters. Including results from only LSD blends, we still found that the biodiesel  $NO_x$  effect is nearly twice as large for common rail systems compared to unit injection.

A higher  $NO_x$  effect in common rail injection systems may be due to their use of highpressure injection, which can exceed 200 megapascals (Xu et al., 2017). High pressures lead to advanced injection, and this allows more time for air-fuel mixing and thus more complete combustion; however, the increase in  $NO_x$  is a drawback. We can expect this effect to be exacerbated when using biodiesel, as it will further advance injection timing because of its low compressibility. During high-pressure injection, biodiesel will enter the injection chamber at a higher speed whereas with conventional diesel fuel, much of the force will be absorbed by compressing the fluid rather than advancing injection timing.

We anticipate that the common rail  $NO_x$  effect will continue to widen in coming years as Indonesia's vehicle fleet transitions to newer models equipped with the technology.

# OVERALL BIODIESEL AIR POLLUTION IMPACTS ON INDONESIA

Our analysis found that blending palm biodiesel in diesel fuel increases  $NO_x$  emissions. These effects are especially pronounced with LSD and common rail injection systems. Figure 8 summarizes the increase in  $NO_x$  with palm biodiesel blending specifically from studies reflecting more modern conditions including LSD and common rail injection systems. This trend is statistically significant and shows an increase in  $NO_x$  emissions of 12%, 17%, and 41% for B30, B40, and B100 in future years in Indonesia. We also found that modern injection systems and fuels diminish the expected reductions of other pollutants from biodiesel, such as PM, CO, and HC compared to diesel fuel.





### REFERENCES

References marked with an asterisk indicate studies included in the meta-analysis. Additional information regarding these studies is provided in Appendix B.

- \*Acevedo, H., & Mantilla, J. (2011). Performance and emissions of a heavy duty diesel engine fuelled with palm oil biodiesel and premium diesel. *Dyna, 78*(170), 152-158. <u>http://ref.scielo.org/9yhjpg</u>
- \*Adi, G., Hall, C., Tao, B., & Shaver, G. (2012). Diesel engine control strategy for biodiesel blend accommodation independent of fuel fatty acid structure. *IFAC Proceedings Volumes*, *45*(30), 17-24. https://doi.org/10.3182/20121023-3-FR-4025.00037
- Agarwal, A. K., Dhar, A., Gupta, J. G., Kim, W. I., Choi, K., Lee, C. S., & Park, S. (2015). Effect of fuel injection pressure and injection timing of Karanja biodiesel blends on fuel spray, engine performance, emissions and combustion characteristics. *Energy Conversion and Management*, *91*, 302–314. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.enconman.2014.12.004
- Alam, M., Song, J., Acharya, R., Boehman, A., & Miller, K. (2004). Combustion and emissions performance of low sulfur, ultra low sulfur and biodiesel blends in a DI diesel engine. SAE Technical Paper 2004-01-3024. https://doi.org/10.4271/2004-01-3024
- \*Altun, S. (2011). Performance and exhaust emissions of a DI diesel engine fueled with waste cooking oil and inedible animal tallow methyl esters. *Turkish Journal of Engineering and Environmental Sciences*, 35. https://doi.org/10.3906/muh-1004-108
- \*Arapaki, N., Bakeas, E., Karavalakis, G., Tzirakis, E., Stournas, S., & Zannikos, F. (2007). *Regulated and unregulated emissions characteristics of a diesel vehicle operating with diesel/biodiesel blends*. SAE Technical Paper 2007-01-0071. https://doi.org/10.4271/2007-01-0071
- Anenberg, S. C., Miller, J., Minjares, R., Du, L., Henze, D. K., Lacey, F., Malley, C. S.,
- Emberson, L., Franco, V., Klimont, Z., & Heyes, C. (2017). Impacts and mitigation of excess dieselrelated NO x emissions in 11 major vehicle markets. *Nature*, *545*(7655), 467-471. https://doi.org/10.1038/nature22086
- \*Arbab, M. I., Masjuki, H. H., Varman, M., Kalam, M. A., Imtenan, S., & Sajjad, H. (2013). Experimental investigation of optimum blend ratio of jatropha, palm and coconut based biodiesel to improve fuel properties, engine performance and emission characteristics. SAE Technical Paper 2013-01-2675. https://doi.org/10.4271/2013-01-2675
- \*Armas, O., García-Contreras, R., & Ramos, Á. (2013). Impact of alternative fuels on performance and pollutant emissions of a light duty engine tested under the new European driving cycle. *Applied Energy*, 107, 183–190. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.apenergy.2013.01.064
- Bacha, J., Freel, J., Gibbs, A., Gibbs, L., Hemighaus, G., Hoekman, K., ... Mills, J. (2007). *Diesel fuels technical review*. Chevron Corporation. <u>https://www.chevron.com/-/media/chevron/operations/documents/diesel-fuel-tech-review.pdf</u>
- \*Bakeas, E., Karavalakis, G., Fontaras, G., & Stournas, S. (2011). An experimental study on the impact of biodiesel origin on the regulated and PAH emissions from a Euro 4 light-duty vehicle. *Fuel*, 90(11), 3200–3208. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.fuel.2011.05.018
- Baldino, C., Tietge, U., Muncrief, R., Bernard, Y., & Mock, P. (2017). Road tested: Comparative overview of real-world versus type-approval NO<sub>x</sub> and CO<sub>2</sub> emissions from diesel cars in Europe. Retrieved from the International Council on Clean Transportation, <u>https://theicct.org/</u> publications/road-tested-comparative-overview-real-world-versus-type-approval-nox-andco2-emissions
- \*Behçet, R. (2011). Performance and emission study of waste anchovy fish biodiesel in a diesel engine. *Fuel Processing Technology*, *92*(6), 1187–1194. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. fuproc.2011.01.012
- \*Behçet, R., Yumrutaş, R., & Oktay, H. (2014). Effects of fuels produced from fish and cooking oils on performance and emissions of a diesel engine. *Energy*, *71*, 645–655. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.energy.2014.05.003</u>
- \*Bielaczyc, P., Szczotka, A., Gizynski, P., & Bedyk, I. (2009). The effect of pure RME and biodiesel blends with high RME content on exhaust emissions from a light duty diesel engine. SAE Technical Paper 2009-01-2653. https://doi.org/10.4271/2009-01-2653
- Bosch UK. (2009, March 31). "The efficient pump injector unit." https://web.archive.org/ web/20090331184810/http://www.boschautoparts.co.uk/pcDies6.asp?c=2&d=1
- Brown, J., Harris, D. B., & King, F. G. (2000). Heavy-duty truck test cycles: Combining driveability with realistic engine exercise. *International Journal of Heavy Vehicle Systems*, 7(4). https://doi.org/10.1504/IJHVS.2000.005259
- Burnett, R. T., Smith-Doiron, M., Stieb, D., Raizenne, M. E., Brook, J. R., Dales, R. E., ... Krewski, D. (2001). Association between ozone and hospitalization for acute respiratory diseases in children less than 2 years of age. *American Journal of Epidemiology*, 153(5), 444–452. https://doi.org/10.1093/aje/153.5.444

- \*Canakci, M., & Van Gerpen, J. H. (2003). Comparison of engine performance and emissions for petroleum diesel fuel, yellow grease biodiesel, and soybean oil biodiesel. *Transactions of the* ASAE, 46(4), 937–944. <u>https://doi.org/10.13031/2013.13948</u>
- \*Chang, D. Y. Z., Van Gerpen, J. H., Lee, I., Johnson, L. A., Hammond, E. G., & Marley, S. J. (1996). Fuel properties and emissions of soybean oil esters as diesel fuel. *Journal of the American Oil Chemists' Society*, 73(11), 1549–1555. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/BF02523523</u>
- \*Chase, C. L., Peterson, C. L., Lowe, G. A., Mann, P., Smith, J. A., & Kado, N. Y. (2000). A 322,000 kilometer (200,000 mile) over the road test with HySEE biodiesel in a heavy duty truck. SAE Technical Paper 2000-01-2647. https://doi.org/10.4271/2000-01-2647
- \*Chin, J.-Y., Batterman, S. A., Northrop, W. F., Bohac, S. V., & Assanis, D. N. (2012). Gaseous and particulate emissions from diesel engines at idle and under load: Comparison of biodiesel blend and ultralow sulfur diesel fuels. *Energy & Fuels*, *26*(11), 6737–6748. <u>https://doi.org/10.1021/ef300421h</u>
- \*Clark, N., Atkinson, C. M., Thompson, G. J., & Nine, R. D. (1999). *Transient emissions comparisons of alternative compression ignition fuels*. SAE Technical Paper 1999-01-1117. <u>https://doi.org/10.4271/1999-01-1117</u>
- \*Clark, N. N., & Lyons, D. W. (1999). Class 8 truck emissions testing: Effects of test cycles and data on biodiesel operation. *Transactions of the ASAE, 42*(5), 1211-1220. <u>https://doi.org/10.13031/2013.13286</u>
- \*Concawe. (2014). Impact of FAME on the performance of three Euro 4 light-duty diesel vehicles Part 1: Fuel consumption and regulated emissions. Retrieved from https://www.concawe.eu/ publication/report-no-614/
- \*Czerwinski, J., Dimopoulos Eggenschwiler, P., Heeb, A. N., Astorga-Ilorens, C., Mayer, A., Heitzer, A., ... Liati, A. (2013). *Diesel emissions with DPF & SCR and toxic potentials with biodiesel (RME) blend fuels*. SAE Technical Paper 2013-01-0523. https://doi.org/10.4271/2013-01-0523
- Demirbas, A. (2009). Combustion efficiency impacts of biofuels. Energy Sources, Part A: Recovery, Utilization, and Environmental Effects, 31(7), 602–609. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/15567030701743718</u>
- Dharma, S., Ong, H. C., Masjuki, H. H., Sebayang, A. H., & Silitonga, A. S. (2016). An overview of engine durability and compatibility using biodiesel-bioethanol-diesel blends in compressionignition engines. *Energy Conversion and Management*, 128, 66–81. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j. enconman.2016.08.072</u>
- \*Di, Y., Cheung, C. S., & Huang, Z. (2009). Experimental investigation on regulated and unregulated emissions of a diesel engine fueled with ultra-low sulfur diesel fuel blended with biodiesel from waste cooking oil. *Science of The Total Environment*, 407(2), 835–846. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2008.09.023</u>
- \*Durbin, T. D., Collins, J. R., Norbeck, J. M., & Smith, M. R. (1999). Evaluation of the effects of alternative diesel fuel formulations on exhuast emission rates and reactivity. https://www. researchgate.net/profile/Thomas\_Durbin/publication/242519872\_Final\_Report\_Evaluation\_ of\_the\_Effects\_of\_Alternative\_Diesel\_Fuel\_Formulations\_on\_Exhaust\_Emission\_Rates\_ and\_Reactivity/links/54ef432a0cf2495330e1cdb3/Final-Report-Evaluation-of-the-Effects-of-Alternative-Diesel-Fuel-Formulations-on-Exhaust-Emission-Rates-and-Reactivity.pdf
- \*Durbin, T. D., & Norbeck, J. M. (2002). The effects of biodiesel blends and Arco EC-diesel on emissions from light heavy-duty vehicles. *Environmental Science and Technology*, 36(8), 1686–91. https://doi.org/10.1021/es0112310
- \*Eckerle, W. A., Lyford-Pike, E. J., Stanton, D. W., LaPointe, L. A., Whitacre, S. D., & Wall, J. C. (2008). Effects of methyl ester biodiesel blends on NOx emissions. *SAE International Journal of Fuels and Lubricants*, *1*(1), 102–118. https://doi.org/10.4271/2008-01-0078
- \*Farzaneh, M., Zietsman, J., Perkinson, D. G., & Spillane, D. L. (2006). School bus biodiesel (B20) NO<sub>x</sub> emissions testing. Texas Transportation Institute. Retrieved from <u>https://airquality.tti.tamu.edu/files/2010/11/School-Bus-Biodiesel-B20-NOx-Emissions-Testing1.pdf</u>
- \*Fontaras, G., Karavalakis, G., Kousoulidou, M., Tzamkiozis, T., Ntziachristos, L., Bakeas, E., Stournas, S., & Samaras, Z. (2009). Effects of biodiesel on passenger car fuel consumption, regulated and non-regulated pollutant emissions over legislated and real-world driving cycles. *Fuel*, 88(9), 1608–1617. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.fuel.2009.02.011
- \*Fontaras, G., Kousoulidou, M., Karavalakis, G., Tzamkiozis, T., Pistikopoulos, P., Ntziachristos, L., ... Samaras, Z. (2010). Effects of low concentration biodiesel blend application on modern passenger cars. Part 1: Feedstock impact on regulated pollutants, fuel consumption and particle emissions. *Environmental Pollution*, 158(5), 1451-1460. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. envpol.2009.12.033
- \*Frank, B. P., Tang, S., Lanni, T., Rideout, G., Beregszaszy, C., Meyer, N., ... Evans, J. (2004). A study of the effects of fuel type and emission control systems on regulated gaseous emissions from heavy-duty diesel engines. SAE Technical Paper 2004-01-1085. <u>https://doi.org/10.4271/2004-01-1085</u>

- \*Gautam, R., Kumar, N., & Sharma, P. (2013). Comparative assessment of performance, emission and combustion characteristics of blends of methyl and ethyl ester of jatropha oil and diesel in compression ignition engine. SAE Technical Paper 2013-01-2664. <u>https://doi.org/10.4271/2013-</u> 01-2664
- Ge, J., Yoon, S., Kim, M., & Choi, N. (2016). Application of canola oil biodiesel/diesel blends in a common rail diesel engine. *Applied Sciences*, 7(1), 34. https://doi.org/10.3390/app7010034
- \*Geng, L., Chen, Y., Chen, X., & Lee, C. F. (2019). Study on combustion characteristics and particulate emissions of a common-rail diesel engine fueled with n-butanol and waste cooking oil blends. *Journal of the Energy Institute*, 92(3), 438–449. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.joei.2018.05.004</u>
- \*Graboski, M., Ross, J., & McCormick, R. (1996). *Transient Emissions from no. 2 diesel and biodiesel blends in a DDC6 Series engine*. SAE Technical Paper 961166. https://doi.org/10.4271/961166
- \*Graboski, M. S., McCormick, R. L., Alleman, T. L., & Herring, A. M. (2003). Effect of biodiesel composition on engine emissions from a DDC Series 60 diesel engine: Final report; Report 2 in a series of 6. https://doi.org/10.2172/15003583

Greenstone, M., & Fan, Q. (Claire). (2019). Indonesia's Worsening Air Quality and its Impact on

- Life Expectancy. https://agli.epic.uchicago.edu/wp-content/uploads/2019/03/Indonesia-Report.pdf
- \*Guido, C., Beatrice, C., & Napolitano, P. (2013). Application of bioethanol/RME/diesel blend in a Euro5 automotive diesel engine: Potentiality of closed loop combustion control technology. *Applied Energy*, *102*, 13–23. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.apenergy.2012.08.051
- \*Haas, M. J., Scott, K. M., Alleman, T. L., & McCormick, R. L. (2001). Engine performance of biodiesel fuel prepared from soybean soapstock: A high quality renewable fuel produced from a waste feedstock. *Energy & Fuels*, 15(5), 1207–1212. https://doi.org/10.1021/ef010051x
- \*Han, M., Cho, K., Sluder, C. S., & Wagner, R. M. (2008). Soybean and coconut biodiesel fuel effects on combustion characteristics in a light-duty diesel engine. SAE Technical Paper 2008-01-2501. https://doi.org/10.4271/2008-01-2501
- \*Hansen, K. F., & Jensen, M. G. (1997). Chemical and biological characteristics of exhaust emissions from a DI diesel engine fuelled with rapeseed oil methyl ester (RME). SAE Technical Paper 971689. https://doi.org/10.4271/971689
- Health Effects Institute. (2019). *State of Global Air 2019*. Retrieved from <u>https://www.stateofglobalair.org/sites/default/files/soga\_2019\_report.pdf</u>
- \*Hearne, J., Toback, A., Akers, J., Hesketh, R. P., & Marchese, A. J. (2005). *Development of a new composite school bus test cycle and the effect of fuel type on mobile emissions from three school buses*. SAE Technical Paper 2005-01-1616. https://doi.org/10.4271/2005-01-1616
- Heywood, J. (1988). Internal Combustion Engine Fundamentals. McGraw-Hill.
- Hoekman, S. K., Broch, A., Robbins, C., Ceniceros, E., & Natarajan, M. (2012). Review of biodiesel composition, properties, and specifications. *Renewable and Sustainable Energy Reviews*, 16(1), 143-169. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.rser.2011.07.143
- Hoekman, S. K., & Robbins, C. (2012). Review of the effects of biodiesel on NOx emissions. Fuel Processing Technology, 96, 237-249. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.fuproc.2011.12.036
- \*Holden, B., Jack, J., Miller, D. W., & Durbin, D. T. (2006). *Effect of Biodiesel on Diesel Engine Nitrogen Oxide and Other Regulated Emissions*. 110.
- Jerrett, M., Burnett, R. T., Pope, C. A., Ito, K., Thurston, G., Krewski, D., ... Thun, M. (2009). Longterm ozone exposure and mortality. *New England Journal of Medicine*, 360(11), 1085-1095. https://doi.org/10.1056/NEJMoa0803894
- \*Kalam, M. A., & Masjuki, H. H. (2008). Testing palm biodiesel and NPAA additives to control NO<sub>x</sub> and CO while improving efficiency in diesel engines. *Biomass and Bioenergy*, 32(12), 1116–1122. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biombioe.2008.02.009</u>
- \*Karavalakis, G., Alvanou, F., Stournas, S., & Bakeas, E. (2009a). Regulated and unregulated emissions of a light duty vehicle operated on diesel/palm-based methyl ester blends over NEDC and a non-legislated driving cycle. *Fuel*, 88(6), 1078–1085. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j. fuel.2008.11.003</u>
- \*Karavalakis, G., Tzirakis, E., Zannikos, F., Stournas, S., Bakeas, E., Arapaki, N., & Spanos, A. (2007). *Diesel/soy methyl ester blends emissions profile from a passenger vehicle operated on the European and the Athens driving cycles*. SAE Technical Paper 2007-01-4043. https://doi.org/10.4271/2007-01-4043
- \*Karavalakis, G., Jiang, Y., Yang, J., Durbin, T., Nuottimäki, J., & Lehto, K. (2016). Emissions and fuel economy evaluation from two current technology heavy-duty trucks operated on HVO and FAME blends. SAE International Journal of Fuels and Lubricants, 9(1), 177-190. https://doi.org/10.4271/2016-01-0876
- \*Karavalakis, G., Stournas, S., & Bakeas, E. (2009b). Effects of diesel/biodiesel blends on regulated and unregulated pollutants from a passenger vehicle operated over the European and the Athens driving cycles. *Atmospheric Environment*, *43*(10), 1745–1752. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.atmosenv.2008.12.033

- \*Karavalakis, G., Stournas, S., & Bakeas, E. (2009c). Light vehicle regulated and unregulated emissions from different biodiesels. *Science of The Total Environment*, 407(10), 3338–3346. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2008.12.063
- \*Karavalakis, G., Bakeas, E., Fontaras, G., & Stournas, S. (2011). Effect of biodiesel origin on regulated and particle-bound PAH (polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbon) emissions from a Euro 4 passenger car. *Energy*, *3*6(8), 5328-5337. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.energy.2011.06.041
- \*Kawano, D., Ishii, H., & Goto, Y. (2008). Effect of biodiesel blending on emission characteristics of modern diesel engine. SAE Technical Paper 2008-01-2384. https://doi.org/10.4271/2008-01-2384
- \*Kaya, T., Kutlar, O., & Taskiran, O. (2018). Evaluation of the effects of biodiesel on emissions and performance by comparing the results of the New European Drive Cycle and Worldwide Harmonized Light Vehicles Test Cycle. *Energies*, *11*(10), 2814. <u>https://doi.org/10.3390/ en11102814</u>
- Khalid, A., Tamaldin, N., Jaat, M., Ali, M. F. M., Manshoor, B., & Zaman, I. (2013). Impacts of biodiesel storage duration on fuel properties and emissions. *Procedia Engineering*, 68, 225-230. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.proeng.2013.12.172
- \*Kinoshita, E., Hamasaki, K., & Jaqin, C. (2003). *Diesel combustion of palm oil methyl ester*. SAE Technical Paper 2003-01-1929. https://doi.org/10.4271/2003-01-1929
- \*Kinoshita, E., Myo, T., Hamasaki, K., Tajima, H., & Kun, Z. R. (2006). *Diesel combustion characteristics of coconut oil and palm oil biodiesels*. SAE Technical Paper 2006-01-3251. https://doi.org/10.4271/2006-01-3251
- \*Kinoshita, E., Ueda, Y., & Takata, S. (2011). *Combustion characteristics of a DI diesel* engine with palm oil butyl and isobutyl esters. SAE Technical Paper 2011-01-1937. https://doi.org/10.4271/2011-01-1937
- \*Knothe, G., Sharp, C. A., & Ryan, T. W. (2006). Exhaust emissions of biodiesel, petrodiesel, neat methyl esters, and alkanes in a new technology engine. *Energy & Fuels*, *20*(1), 403–408. https://doi.org/10.1021/ef0502711
- \*Koszalka, G., Hunicz, J., & Niewczas, A. (2010). A Comparison of Performance and Emissions of an Engine Fuelled with Diesel and Biodiesel. *SAE International Journal of Fuels and Lubricants*, *3*(2), 77-84. Retrieved from http://www.jstor.org/stable/26272921
- \*Kousoulidou, M., Fontaras, G., Ntziachristos, L., & Samaras, Z. (2009). *Evaluation of biodiesel* blends on the performance and emissions of a common-rail light-duty engine and vehicle. SAE Technical Paper 2009-01-0692. https://doi.org/10.4271/2009-01-0692
- \*Krahl, J., Munack, A., Schröder, O., Stein, H., Herbst, L., Kaufmann, A., & Bünger, J. (2005). *The influence of fuel design on the exhaust gas emissions and health effects*. SAE Technical Paper 2005-01-3772. https://doi.org/10.4271/2005-01-3772
- \*Krahl, J., Knothe, G., Munack, A., Ruschel, Y., Schröder, O., Hallier, E., Westphal, G., & Bünger, J. (2009). Comparison of exhaust emissions and their mutagenicity from the combustion of biodiesel, vegetable oil, gas-to-liquid and petrodiesel fuels. *Fuel*, 88(6), 1064–1069. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.fuel.2008.11.015
- \*Krahl, J., Munack, A., Ruschel, Y., Schröder, O., & Bünger, J. (2008). Exhaust gas emissions and mutagenic effects of diesel fuel, biodiesel and biodiesel blends. SAE Technical Paper 2008-01–2508. https://doi.org/10.4271/2008-01-2508
- \*Lahane, S., & Subramanian, K. A. (2015). Effect of different percentages of biodiesel-diesel blends on injection, spray, combustion, performance, and emission characteristics of a diesel engine. *Fuel*, *139*, 537-545. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.fuel.2014.09.036</u>
- \*Lance, D. L., Goodfellow, C. L., Williams, J., Bunting, W., Sakata, I., Yoshida, K., Taniguchi, S., & Kitano, K. (2009). The impact of diesel and biodiesel fuel composition on a Euro V HSDI engine with advanced DPNR emissions control. *SAE International Journal of Fuels and Lubricants*, *2*(1), 885-894. https://doi.org/10.4271/2009-01-1903
- Lapuerta, M., Agudelo, J. R., Prorok, M., & Boehman, A. L. (2012). Bulk modulus of compressibility of diesel/biodiesel/HVO blends. *Energy & Fuels*, *26*(2), 1336–1343. <u>https://doi.org/10.1021/ef201608g</u>
- \*Lapuerta, M., Herreros, J. M., Lyons, L. L., García-Contreras, R., & Briceño, Y. (2008). Effect of the alcohol type used in the production of waste cooking oil biodiesel on diesel performance and emissions. *Fuel*, 87(15–16), 3161–3169. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.fuel.2008.05.013
- Lee, R., Pedley, J., & Hobbs, C. (1998). *Fuel quality impact on heavy duty diesel emissions:- A literature review*. SAE Technical Paper 982649. https://doi.org/10.4271/982649
- \*Leevijit, T., & Prateepchaikul, G. (2011). Comparative performance and emissions of IDI-turbo automobile diesel engine operated using degummed, deacidified mixed crude palm oil-diesel blends. *Fuel*, *90*(4), 1487-1491. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.fuel.2010.10.013
- \*Lešnik, L., Vajda, B., Žunič, Z., Škerget, L., & Kegl, B. (2013). The influence of biodiesel fuel on injection characteristics, diesel engine performance, and emission formation. *Applied Energy*, *111*, 558–570. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.apenergy.2013.05.010</u>

- \*Li, H., Andrews, G. E., & Balsevich-Prieto, J. L. (2007). *Study of emission and combustion characteristics of RME B100 biodiesel from a heavy duty DI diesel engine*. SAE Technical Paper 2007-01-0074. https://doi.org/10.4271/2007-01-0074
- \*Lim, C., Lee, J., Hong, J., Song, C., Han, J., & Cha, J.-S. (2014). Evaluation of regulated and unregulated emissions from a diesel powered vehicle fueled with diesel/biodiesel blends in Korea. *Energy*, *77*, 533-541. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.energy.2014.09.040
- \*Liotta, F. J., & Montalvo, D. M. (1993). *The effect of oxygenated fuels on emissions from a modern heavy-duty diesel engine*. SAE Technical Paper 932734. https://doi.org/10.4271/932734
- \*López, J. M., Jiménez, F., Aparicio, F., & Flores, N. (2009). On-road emissions from urban buses with SCR+Urea and EGR+DPF systems using diesel and biodiesel. *Transportation Research Part D: Transport and Environment*, 14(1), 1–5. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.trd.2008.07.004
- \*Luján, J. M., Bermúdez, V., Tormos, B., & Pla, B. (2009). Comparative analysis of a DI diesel engine fuelled with biodiesel blends during the European MVEG-A cycle: Performance and emissions (II). *Biomass and Bioenergy*, *33*(6-7), 948-956. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biombioe.2009.02.003</u>
- \*Macor, A., Avella, F., & Faedo, D. (2011). Effects of 30% v/v biodiesel/diesel fuel blend on regulated and unregulated pollutant emissions from diesel engines. *Applied Energy*, 88(12), 4989–5001. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.apenergy.2011.06.045
- \*Marshall, W., Schumacher, L. G., & Howell, S. (1995). Engine exhaust emissions evaluation of a Cummins L10E when fueled with a biodiesel blend. SAE Technical Paper 952363. https://doi.org/10.4271/952363
- \*Martini, G., Astorga, C., & Farfaletti, A. (2007). *Effect of biodiesel fuels on pollutant emissions from EURO 3 LD diesel vehicles (1).* European Commission, Joint Research Centre, & Institute for Environment and Sustainability. Retrieved from <a href="https://ec.europa.eu/jrc/en/publication/eur-scientific-and-technical-research-reports/effect-biodiesel-fuels-pollutant-emissions-euro-3-ld-diesel-vehicles-1">https://ec.europa.eu/jrc/en/publication/eur-scientific-and-technical-research-reports/effect-biodiesel-fuels-pollutant-emissions-euro-3-ld-diesel-vehicles-1</a>
- \*Mazzoleni, C., Kuhns, H., Moosmuller, H., Witt, J., Nussbaum, N., Oliverchang, M., ... Watson, J. (2007). A case study of real-world tailpipe emissions for school buses using a 20% biodiesel blend. *Science of The Total Environment*, 385(1-3), 146–159. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.</u> scitotenv.2007.06.018
- \*McCormick, R. L., Alvarez, J. R., & Graboski, M. S. (2003). *NOx solutions for biodiesel: Final report; Report 6 in a series of 6*. National Renewable Energy Laboratory (NREL). https://doi.org/10.2172/15003586
- \*McCormick, R. L., Williams, A., Ireland, J., Brimhall, M., & Hayes, R. R. (2006). Effects of biodiesel blends on vehicle emissions: Fiscal year 2006 annual operating plan milestone 10.4. National Renewable Energy Laboratory (NREL). https://doi.org/10.2172/894987
- \*McCormick, R. L., Ross, J. D., & Graboski, M. S. (1997). Effect of several oxygenates on regulated emissions from heavy-duty diesel engines. *Environmental Science & Technology*, 31(4), 1144–1150. https://doi.org/10.1021/es9606438
- \*McCormick, R. L., Tennant, C. J., Hayes, R. R., Black, S., Ireland, J., McDaniel, T., ... Sharp, C. A. (2005). *Regulated emissions from biodiesel tested in heavy-duty engines meeting 2004 emission standards*. SAE Technical Report 2005-01-2200. https://doi.org/10.4271/2005-01-2200
- McDonald, G., & Rahmanulloh, A. (2019). *Indonesia Biofuels Annual Report 2019*. Retrieved from https://www.fas.usda.gov/data/indonesia-biofuels-annual-4
- \*McGill, R., Storey, J., Wagner, R., Irick, D., Aakko, P., Westerholm, M., Nyland, N., & Lappi, M. (2003). *Emission performance of selected biodiesel fuels*. SAE Technical Paper 2003-01-1866. https://doi.org/10.4271/2003-01-1866
- \*Mirhashemi, F. S., & Sadrnia, H. (2020). NO<sub>x</sub> emissions of compression ignition engines fueled with various biodiesel blends: A review. *Journal of the Energy Institute*, 93(1), 129–151. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.joei.2019.04.003
- \*Mishra, S., Anand, K., & Mehta, P. S. (2016). Predicting the cetane number of biodiesel fuels from their fatty acid methyl ester composition. *Energy & Fuels*, *30*(12), 10425–10434. https://doi.org/10.1021/acs.energyfuels.6b01343
- \*Mizushima, N., & Takada, Y. (2014). *Evaluation of enivronmnetal impact of biodiesel vehicles in real traffic conditions*. Retrieved from https://amftcp.org/app/webroot/files/file/Annex%20 Reports/AMF\_Annex\_38-2.pdf
- \*Mofijur, M., Masjuki, H. H., Kalam, M. A., Atabani, A. E., Fattah, I. M. R., & Mobarak, H. M. (2014). Comparative evaluation of performance and emission characteristics of Moringa oleifera and palm oil based biodiesel in a diesel engine. *Industrial Crops and Products*, 53, 78–84. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.indcrop.2013.12.011
- Monyem, A., & Gerpen, J. H. V. (2001). The effect of biodiesel oxidation on engine performance and emissions. *Biomass and Bioenergy*, 20(4), 317–325.
- \*Mormino, I., Verhelst, S., Sierens, R., Stevens, C. V., & De Meulenaer, B. (2009). Using vegetable oils and animal fats in diesel engines: Chemical analyses and engine tests. SAE Techical Paper 2009-01-0493. https://doi.org/10.4271/2009-01-0493

- \*Nabi, Md. N., Akhter, Md. S., & Zaglul Shahadat, M. Md. (2006). Improvement of engine emissions with conventional diesel fuel and diesel-biodiesel blends. *Bioresource Technology*, 97(3), 372–378. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biortech.2005.03.013
- \*Nanthagopal, K., Ashok, B., Saravanan, B., Korah, S. M., & Chandra, S. (2018). Effect of next generation higher alcohols and Calophyllum inophyllum methyl ester blends in diesel engine. *Journal of Cleaner Production, 180*, 50–63. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jclepro.2018.01.167
- \*Ng, J.-H., Ng, H. K., & Gan, S. (2011). Engine-out characterisation using speed-load mapping and reduced test cycle for a light-duty diesel engine fuelled with biodiesel blends. *Fuel*, 90(8), 2700–2709. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.fuel.2011.03.034</u>
- \*Ng, J.-H., Ng, H. K., & Gan, S. (2012). Characterisation of engine-out responses from a light-duty diesel engine fuelled with palm methyl ester (PME). *Applied Energy*, 90(1), 58–67. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.apenergy.2011.01.028
- \*Nikanjam, M., Rutherford, J., Byrne, D., Lyford-Pike, E. J., & Bartoli, Y. (2009). *Performance and emissions of diesel and alternative diesel fuels in a modern heavy-duty vehicle*. SAE Technical Paper 2009-01-2649. https://doi.org/10.4271/2009-01-2649
- \*Nuszkowski, J., Thompson, G. J., Tincher, R., & Clark, N. (2008). *Heat release and emission characteristics of B20 biodiesel fuels during steady state and transient operation*. SAE Technical Paper 2008-01-1377. https://doi.org/10.4271/2008-01-1377
- \*Olatunji, I., Wayne, S., Gautam, M., Clark, N., Thompson, G., McKain, D., Sindler, P., & Nuszkowski, J. (2010). *Biodiesel blend emissions of a 2007 medium heavy duty diesel truck*. SAE Technical Paper 2010-01-1968. https://doi.org/10.4271/2010-01-1968
- Organisation for Economic Co-operation and Development & International Energy Agency. (2017). *International comparison of light-duty vehicle fuel economy: Indonesia*. Retrieved from https://www.globalfueleconomy.org/media/461034/asia\_indonesia.pdf
- \*Ozsezen, A. N., & Canakci, M. (2010). The emission analysis of an IDI diesel engine fueled with methyl ester of waste frying palm oil and its blends. *Biomass and Bioenergy*, *34*(12), 1870–1878. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biombioe.2010.07.024
- \*Ozsezen, A. N., & Canakci, M. (2011). Determination of performance and combustion characteristics of a diesel engine fueled with canola and waste palm oil methyl esters. *Energy Conversion and Management*, 52(1), 108–116. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.enconman.2010.06.049
- \*Pala-En, N., Sattler, M., Dennis, B. H., Chen, V. C. P., & Muncrief, R. L. (2013). Measurement of emissions from a passenger truck fueled with biodiesel from different feedstocks. *Journal of Environmental Protection*, 04(08A), 74–82. https://doi.org/10.4236/jep.2013.48A1010
- \*Payri, F., Macián, V., Arrègle, J., Tormos, B., & Martínez, J. (2005). *Heavy-duty diesel engine* performance and emission measurements for biodiesel (from cooking oil) blends Used in the ECOBUS project. SAE Technical Paper 2005-01-2205. https://doi.org/10.4271/2005-01-2205
- \*Peterson, C. L., & Reece, D. L. (1996). *Emissions testing with blends of esters or rapeseed oil fuel with and without a catalytic converter.* SAE Technical Paper 961114. <u>https://doi.org/10.4271/961114</u>.
- \*Peterson, C. L., Taberski, J. S., Thompson, J. C., & Chase, C L. (2000). The effect of biodiesel feedstock on regulated emissions in chassis dynamometer tests of a pickup truck. *Transactions of the ASAE*, *43*(6), 1371-1381. https://doi.org/10.13031/2013.3034
- Posada, F., Chambliss, S., & Blumberg, K. (2016). Costs of emission reduction technologies for heavy-duty diesel vehicles. Retrieved from the International Council on Clean Transportation, https://theicct.org/publications/costs-emission-reduction-technologies-heavy-duty-dieselvehicles
- \*Proc, K., Barnitt, R., Hayes, R. R., Ratcliff, M., McCormick, R. L., Ha, L., & Fang, H. L. (2006). 100,000-mile evaluation of transit buses operated on biodiesel blends (B20). SAE Technical Paper 2006-01-3253. https://doi.org/10.4271/2006-01-3253
- \*Prokopowicz, A., Zaciera, M., Sobczak, A., Bielaczyc, P., & Woodburn, J. (2015). The Effects of neat biodiesel and biodiesel and HVO blends in diesel fuel on exhaust emissions from a light duty vehicle with a diesel engine. *Environmental Science & Technology*, 49(12), 7473–7482. https://doi.org/10.1021/acs.est.5b00648
- \*Purcell, D. L., McClure, B. T., McDonald, J., & Basu, H. N. (1996). Transient testing of soy methyl ester fuels in an indirect injection, compression ignition engine. *Journal of the American Oil Chemists' Society*, *73*(3), 381-388. https://doi.org/10.1007/BF02523435
- \*Rahman, S. M. A., Masjuki, H. H., Kalam, M. A., Abedin, M. J., Sanjid, A., & Sajjad, H. (2013). Production of palm and Calophyllum inophyllum based biodiesel and investigation of blend performance and exhaust emission in an unmodified diesel engine at high idling conditions. *Energy Conversion and Management*, *76*, 362–367. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j. enconman.2013.07.061</u>
- \*Rakopoulos, C. D., Rakopoulos, D. C., Hountalas, D. T., Giakoumis, E. G., & Andritsakis, E. C. (2007). Performance and emissions of bus engine using blends of diesel fuel with bio-diesel of sunflower or cottonseed oils derived from Greek feedstock. *Fuel*, 87(2), 147-157. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.fuel.2007.04.011

- \*Rantanen, L., Mikkonen, S., Nylund, L., Kociba, P., Lappi, M., & Nylund, N. (1993). Effect of fuel on the regulated, unregulated and mutagenic emissions of DI diesel engines. SAE Technical Paper 932686. https://doi.org/10.4271/932686
- \*Reijnders, J., Boot, M., & de Goey, P. (2016). Impact of aromaticity and cetane number on the soot-NOx trade-off in conventional and low temperature combustion. *Fuel*, *186*, 24–34. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.fuel.2016.08.009
- \*Rifin, A. (2010). The effect of export tax on Indonesia's crude palm oil (CPO) export competitiveness. *Asean Economic Bulletin, 27*(2), 173–184. Retrieved from http://www.jstor.org/stable/41317117
- \*Rizwanul Fattah, I. M., Masjuki, H. H., Kalam, M. A., Mofijur, M., & Abedin, M. J. (2014). Effect of antioxidant on the performance and emission characteristics of a diesel engine fueled with palm biodiesel blends. *Energy Conversion and Management*, 79, 265–272. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.enconman.2013.12.024
- \*Ropkins, K., Quinn, R., Beebe, J., Li, H., Daham, B., Tate, J., ... Andrews, G. (2007). Real-world comparison of probe vehicle emissions and fuel consumption using diesel and 5% biodiesel (B5) blend. Science of The Total Environment, 376(1-3), 267-284. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j. scitotenv.2006.11.021</u>
- \*Rose, K. D., Samaras, Z., Jansen, L., Clark, R., Elliott, N., Fontaras, G., ... Kalogirou, M. (2010). Impact of biodiesel blends on fuel consumption and emissions in Euro 4 Compliant Vehicles. *SAE International Journal of Fuels and Lubricants*, *3*(2), 142–164. <u>https://doi.org/10.4271/2010-01-1484</u>
- \*Roy, M. M., Wang, W., & Bujold, J. (2013). Biodiesel production and comparison of emissions of a DI diesel engine fueled by biodiesel-diesel and canola oil-diesel blends at high idling operations. Applied Energy, 106, 198-208. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.apenergy.2013.01.057
- \*Schumacher, L., Borgelt, S. C., Hires, W. G., Wetherell, W., & Nevils, A. (1996). *100,000 miles of fueling 5.9L Cummins engines with 100% biodiesel*. SAE Technical Paper 962233. https://doi.org/10.4271/962233
- \*Schumacher, L. G. (1994). Fueling diesel engines with blends of methyl ester soybean oil and diesel fuel. Retrieved f rom http://web.missouri.edu/-schumacherl/ASAED94.htm
- Searle, S., & Bitnere, K. (2018). *Compatibility of mid-level biodiesel blends in vehicles in Indonesia*. Retrieved from the International Council on Clean Transportation, <u>https://theicct.org/</u> publications/compatibility-mid-level-biodiesel-blends-vehicles-indonesia
- \*Serdari, A., Fragioudakis, K., Teas, C., Zannikos, F., Stournas, S., & Lois, E. (1999). Effect of biodiesel addition to diesel fuel on engine performance and emissions. *Journal of Propulsion and Power*, *15*(2), 224–231. https://doi.org/10.2514/2.5416
- \*Serrano, L., Lopes, M., Pires, N., Ribeiro, I., Cascão, P., Tarelho, ... Borrego, C. (2015). Evaluation on effects of using low biodiesel blends in a EURO 5 passenger vehicle equipped with a common-rail diesel engine. *Applied Energy*, *146*, 230–238. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.apenergy.2015.01.063
- Shao, Z., Miller, J., & Jin, L. (2020). Soot-free road transport in Indonesia: A cost-benefit analysis and implications for fuel policy. Retrieved from the International Council on Clean Transportation, https://theicct.org/publications/soot-free-road-transport-indonesia-cost-benefit-analysis
- \*Sharp, C. (1994). Transient emissions testing of biodiesel and other additives in a DDC series 60 engine. Retrieved from https://afdc.energy.gov/files/pdfs/2956.pdf
- \*Sharp, C. A. (1996). *Emissions and lubricity evaluation of rapeseed derived biodiesel fuels*. https://archive.org/stream/emissionslubrici1996shar/emissionslubrici1996shar\_djvu.txt
- \*Sharp, C. A., Howell, S. A., & Jobe, J. (2000). The effect of biodiesel fuels on transient emissions from modern diesel engines, part I regulated emissions and performance. SAE Technical Paper 2000-01-1967. https://doi.org/10.4271/2000-01-1967
- \*Sharp, C. A., Ryan, T. W., & Knothe, G. (2005). *Heavy-duty diesel engine emissions tests using special biodiesel fuels*. SAE Technical Paper 2005-01-3671. https://doi.org/10.4271/2005-01-3671
- \*Shen, X., Shi, J., Cao, X., Zhang, X., Zhang, W., Wu, H., & Yao, Z. (2018). Real-world exhaust emissions and fuel consumption for diesel vehicles fueled by waste cooking oil biodiesel blends. *Atmospheric Environment*, *191*, 249–257. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.</u> atmosenv.2018.08.004
- \*Sinha, S. K., & Kumar, N. (2019). Utilization of blends of biodiesel and higher alcohols in a small capacity diesel engine. SAE Technical Paper 2019-01-0580. https://doi.org/10.4271/2019-01-0580
- \*Souligny, M., Graham, L., Rideout, G., & Hosatte, P. (2004). *Heavy-duty diesel engine* performance and comparative emission measurements for different biodiesel blends used in the Montreal BIOBUS project. SAE Technical Paper 2004-01-1861. <u>https://doi.org/10.4271/2004-01-1861</u>
- Spataru, A., & Romig, C. (1995). *Emissions and engine performance from blends of soya* and canola methyl esters with ARB #2 diesel in a DDC 6V92TA MUI engine. <u>https://doi.org/10.4271/952388</u>

- \*Starr, M. E. (1997). Influence on transient emissions at various injection timings, using cetane improvers, bio-diesel, and low aromatic fuels. SAE Technical Report 972904. https://doi.org/10.4271/972904
- \*Sze, C., Whinihan, J. K., Olson, B. A., Schenk, C. R., & Sobotowski, R. A. (2007). *Impact of Test Cycle and Biodiesel Concentration on Emissions*. SAE Technical Paper 2007-01-4040. https://doi.org/10.4271/2007-01-4040
- \*Tadano, Y. S., Borillo, G. C., Godoi, A. F. L., Cichon, A., Silva, T. O. B., Valebona, F. B., Errera, M. R., Penteado Neto, R. A., Rempel, D., Martin, L., Yamamoto, C. I., & Godoi, R. H. M. (2014). Gaseous emissions from a heavy-duty engine equipped with SCR aftertreatment system and fuelled with diesel and biodiesel: Assessment of pollutant dispersion and health risk. *Science of The Total Environment*, 500-501, 64-71. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2014.08.100
- \*Tatur, M., Nanjundaswamy, H., Tomazic, D., Thornton, M., & McCormick, R. L. (2009). Biodiesel effects on U.S. light-duty Tier 2 engine and emission control systems—Part 2. *SAE International Journal of Fuels and Lubricants*, *2*(1), 88–103. https://doi.org/10.4271/2009-01-0281
- Thompson, G. J., Carder, D. K., Besch, M. C., Thiruvengadam, A., & Kappanna, H. K. (2014). In-use emissions testing of light-duty diesel vehicles in the United States. Retrieved from the International Council on Clean Transportation, <u>https://theicct.org/publications/use-emissionstesting-light-duty-diesel-vehicles-us</u>
- \*Tian, J., Xu, H., Ghafourian, A., Liu, D., Tan, C., & Shuai, S.-J. (2013). Transient emissions characteristics of a turbocharged engine fuelled by biodiesel blends. SAE International Journal of Fuels and Lubricants, 6(2), 457–465. https://doi.org/10.4271/2013-01-1302
- \*Tompkins, B. T., Esquivel, J., & Jacobs, T. J. (2009). *Performance parameter analysis of a biodiesel-fuelled medium duty diesel engine*. SAE Technical Paper 2009-01-0481. https://doi.org/10.4271/2009-01-0481
- \*Tzirakis, E., Karavalakis, G., Zannikos, F., & Stournas, S. (2007). Impact of diesel/biodiesel blends on emissions from a diesel vehicle operated in real driving conditions. SAE Technical Paper 2007-01-0076. https://doi.org/10.4271/2007-01-0076
- \*Ullman, T. L., Hare, C. T., & Baines, T. M. (1983). *Heavy-duty diesel emissions as a function of alternate fuels*. SAE Technical Paper 830377. https://doi.org/10.4271/830377
- U.S. Environmental Protection Agency. (2002). A comprehensive analysis of biodiesel impacts on exhaust emissions (EPA420-P-02-001). Retrieved from https://nepis.epa.gov
- U.S. Environmental Protection Agency. (2015). Criteria Air Pollutants. In *America's Children and the Environment*, 3rd ed. (p. 22). Retrieved from <a href="https://www.epa.gov/americaschildrenenvironment">https://www.epa.gov/americaschildrenenvironment</a>
- \*Usta, N. (2005). An experimental study on performance and exhaust emissions of a diesel engine fuelled with tobacco seed oil methyl ester. *Energy Conversion and Management, 46*(15-16), 2373–2386. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.enconman.2004.12.002
- \*van Niekerk, A. S., Drew, B., Larsen, N., & Kay, P. J. (2019). Influence of blends of diesel and renewable fuels on compression ignition engine emissions over transient engine conditions. *Applied Energy*, 255, 113890. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.apenergy.2019.113890</u>
- \*Wallington, T. J., Anderson, J. E., Kurtz, E. M., & Tennison, P. J. (2016). Biofuels, vehicle emissions, and urban air quality. *Faraday Discussions*, *189*, 121–136. https://doi.org/10.1039/C5FD00205B
- \*Wang, W. G., Lyons, D. W., Clark, N. N., Gautam, M., & Norton, P. M. (2000). Emissions from nine heavy trucks fueled by diesel and biodiesel blend without engine modification. *Environmental Science & Technology*, *34*(6), 933–939. https://doi.org/10.1021/es981329b
- Wang, Z., Li, L., Wang, J., & Reitz, R. D. (2016). Effect of biodiesel saturation on soot formation in diesel engines. *Fuel*, *175*, 240-248. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.fuel.2016.02.048
- \*Wirawan, S. S., Tambunan, A. H., Djamin, M., & Nabetani, H. 2008). The effect of palm biodiesel fuel on the prformance and emission of the automotive diesel engine. *Engineering International*, 13.
- \*Wu, F., Wang, J., Chen, W., & Shuai, S. (2009). A study on emission performance of a diesel engine fueled with five typical methyl ester biodiesels. *Atmospheric Environment*, 43(7), 1481–1485. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.atmosenv.2008.12.007</u>
- Xie, Y., Posada, F., & Minjares, R. (2020). *Diesel sulfur content impacts on Euro VI soot-free vehicles: Considerations for emerging markets*. Retrieved from the International Council on Clean Transportation, <u>https://theicct.org/publications/diesel-sulfur-content-soot-free-emerging-markets</u>
- Xu, Q., Xu, M., Hung, D., Wu, S., Dong, X., Ochiai, H., ... Jin, K. (2017). Diesel spray characterization at ultra-high injection pressure of DENSO 250 MPa common rail fuel injection system. SAE Technical Paper 2017-01-0821. https://doi.org/10.4271/2017-01-0821
- Yang, Z., & Rutherford, D. (2019). *Japan 2030 fuel economy standards*. Retrieved from the International Council on Clean Transportation, <u>https://theicct.org/publications/japan-2030-fuel-economy-standards</u>
- Yanowitz, J., & McCormick, R. L. (2009). Effect of biodiesel blends on North American heavy-duty diesel engine emissions. *European Journal of Lipid Science and Technology*, *111*(8), 763-772. https://doi.org/10.1002/ejit.200800245

- \*Yasin, M. H. M., Paruka, P., Mamat, R., Yusop, A. F., Najafi, G., & Alias, A. (2015). Effect of low proportion palm biodiesel blend on performance, combustion and emission characteristics of a diesel engine. *Energy Procedia*, *75*, 92–98. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.egypro.2015.07.145</u>
- \*Yoshida, K., Taniguchi, S., Kitano, K., Tsukasaki, Y., Hasegawa, R., & Sakata, I. (2008). *Effects of RME30 on exhaust emissions and combustion in a diesel engine*. SAE Technical Paper 2008-01-2499. https://doi.org/10.4271/2008-01-2499
- \*Zhu, L., Cheung, C. S., Zhang, W. G., & Huang, Z. (2010). Emissions characteristics of a diesel engine operating on biodiesel and biodiesel blended with ethanol and methanol. *Science of The Total Environment*, 408(4), 914–921. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2009.10.078
- \*Zhu, L., Zhang, W., Liu, W., & Huang, Z. (2010). Experimental study on particulate and NO<sub>x</sub> emissions of a diesel engine fueled with ultra low sulfur diesel, RME-diesel blends and PMEdiesel blends. *Science of The Total Environment*, 408(5), 1050–1058. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.</u> <u>scitotenv.2009.10.056</u>

## APPENDIX A - EMISSIONS FORMATION SUMMARY TABLE

Upward arrows represent an increase in the engine or fuel property variable.

| Engine characteristics |   |  |  |  |  |  |
|------------------------|---|--|--|--|--|--|
| Variable               | Primary effect  | Mechanism  |  |  |  |  |
| 1 Ignition delay       | Increase in NO <sub>x</sub><br>Decrease in HC, CO, PM | Ignition delay, or the period between fuel injection and fuel ignition,<br>increases air-fuel mixing inside the combustion chamber. Extended<br>delay improves combustion efficiency but leads to rapid pressure<br>and temperature increases upon combustion. |  |  |  |  |
| 1 Injection pressure   | Increase in NO $_{\rm x}$<br>Decrease in HC, CO       | High pressure conditions improve combustion but advance injection timing and raise temperatures in the cylinder.   |  |  |  |  |
| 1 Injection timing     | Decrease in NO <sub>×</sub><br>Increase in HC, CO, PM | Counter to ignition delay, retarded injection timing reduces air-fuel mixing and the associated high temperatures and pressures in the combustion chamber.   |  |  |  |  |

|                               | Fue   | l properties   |
|-------------------------------|---|--|
| Variable                      | Primary effect  | Mechanism  |
| ↑ Cetane number               | Decrease in $NO_x$                                    | High cetane numbers correspond with faster ignitability and that,<br>in turn, reduces premixed combustion. This limits rapid increases in<br>pressure and temperature.   |
| 1 Aromatics                   | Increase in NO <sub>x</sub>                           | High aromatics are associated with high density and low CN. High aromatics content is also associated with high adiabatic flame temperatures.  |
| <b>†</b> Degree of saturation | Decrease in NO <sub>x</sub> , PM                      | More saturated (i.e., single bond) fuels like palm and coconut<br>have higher CN so they ignite more easily. Saturated fuels are also<br>correlated with high viscosity and low density.   |
| 1 Density                     | Increase in NO <sub>x</sub> , PM                      | High density fuels are associated with high aromatics and low CN.<br>Dense fuels also have high volumetric efficiency, which raises in-<br>cylinder temperatures.  |
| ↑ Viscosity                   | Increase in NO <sub>x</sub> , HC, CO                  | High viscosity may lead to pressure build-up and advanced injection.<br>High pressure conditions also improve air-fuel mixing. However, high<br>viscosity fuels also produce large diameter droplets which hinder<br>vaporization and complete combustion. |
| † Bulk Modulus                | Increase in NO <sub>x</sub><br>Decrease in HC, CO, PM | Bulk modulus is inverse to compressibility such that fuels with high<br>bulk modulus have low compressibility and arrive in the combustion<br>chamber earlier.   |
| ↑ Diesel sulfur content       | Increase in PM  | Combustion of high-sulfur fuel produces sulfate aerosols, a component of PM. High-sulfur fuels are also associated with high aromatics and reduced CN.   |

## APPENDIX B - FULL STUDY LIST

| Study                          | Location      | Vehicle type | FAME<br>feedstock(s)                              | Test cycle(s)                               | Emission<br>standard | Pollutant(s)<br>measured                     |
|--------------------------------|---------------|--------------|---|---|----------------------|--|
| Acevedo &<br>Mantilla (2011)   | Colombia      | HDV engine   | Palm  | Steady-state test                           | _                    | NO <sub>x</sub> , PM<br>(omitted), HC,<br>CO |
| Adi et al. (2012)              | United States | Engine       | Cold-flow<br>Soybean                              | Steady-state test                           | _                    | NO <sub>x</sub> , PM                         |
| Alam et al.<br>(2004)          | United States | HDV          | Soybean   | AVL 8-Mode                                  | Tier 2               | NO <sub>x</sub> , PM, HC, CO                 |
| Altun (2011)                   | Turkey        | LDV engine   | UCO, Animal fat                                   | Steady-state test                           | _                    | NO <sub>x</sub> , CO                         |
| Arapaki et al.<br>(2007)       | Greece        | LDV          | UCO   | NEDC  | Euro 3               | NO <sub>x</sub> , PM, HC, CO                 |
| Arbab et al.<br>(2013)         | Malaysia      | Engine       | Palm, Palm/<br>Jatropha/<br>Coconut blends        | Steady-state test                           | _                    | NO <sub>x</sub> , HC, CO                     |
| Armas et al.<br>(2013)         | Spain         | LDV          | Animal fat  | EUDC, NEDC                                  | Euro 4               | NO <sub>x</sub> , HC, CO                     |
| Bakeas et al.<br>(June 2011)   | Greece/Italy  | LDV          | Soybean, Palm,<br>UCO                             | Artemis Urban,<br>Road, Motorway,<br>NEDC   | Euro 4               | NO <sub>x</sub> , PM, HC, CO                 |
| Behçet (2011)                  | Turkey        | Engine       | Fish oil  | Steady-state test                           | —                    | NO <sub>x</sub> , HC, CO                     |
| Behçet et al.<br>(2014)        | Turkey        | Engine       | Fish oil, UCO                                     | Steady-state test                           | _                    | NO <sub>x</sub> , HC, CO                     |
| Bielaczyc et al.<br>(2009)     | Poland        | LDV          | Rapeseed  | UDC, EUDC Euro 4                            |                      | NO <sub>x</sub> , PM, HC, CO                 |
| Canakci & Van<br>Gerpen (2003) | United States | HDV engine   | UCO, Soybean                                      | Steady-state test —                         |                      | NO <sub>x</sub> , HC, CO                     |
| Chang et al.<br>(1996)         | United States | HDV engine   | Soybean   | Steady-state test —                         |                      | NO <sub>x</sub> , PM, HC, CO                 |
| Chase et al.<br>(2000)         | United States | HDV          | Rapeseed Ethyl<br>Ester (REE),<br>Vegetable oil   | FTP Transient Tier 1                        |                      | NO <sub>x</sub> , PM, HC, CO                 |
| Chin et al. (2012)             | United States | HDV          | Soybean   | Steady-state test                           | Tier 2               | NO <sub>x</sub> , PM, CO                     |
| Clark et al.<br>(1999)         | United States | HDV          | Soybean   | FTP   | Tier 1               | NO <sub>x</sub> , PM, HC, CO                 |
| Clark & Lyons<br>(1999)        | United States | HDV          | Soybean   | WVU 5 peak<br>truck cycle                   | Tier 1               | NO <sub>x</sub> , PM, HC, CO                 |
| Concawe (2014)                 | Greece        | LDV          | Rapeseed  | NEDC, UDC,<br>EUDC                          | Euro 4               | NO <sub>x</sub> , HC, CO                     |
| Czerwinski et al.<br>(2013)    | Germany       | HDV          | Rapeseed  | Steady-state test                           | _                    | NO <sub>x</sub> , PM, HC, CO                 |
| Di et al. (2009)               | China         | HDV Engine   | UCO   | Steady-state test                           | —                    | NO <sub>x</sub> , PM, HC                     |
| Durbin et al.<br>(1999)        | United States | HDV          | FAME  | FTP   | Tier 1               | NO <sub>x</sub> , HC, CO                     |
| Durbin &<br>Norbeck (2002)     | United States | HDV          | Soybean, UCO                                      | FTP   | Tier 1               | NO <sub>x</sub> , PM, HC, CO                 |
| Eckerle et al.<br>(2008)       | United States | HDV          | Soybean   | UDDS (6k),<br>HWY55                         | Tier 2               | NO <sub>x</sub>                              |
| Farzaneh et al.<br>(2006)      | United States | HDV          | Soybean, FAME                                     | On-road driving<br>cycles (Urban,<br>Rural) | Tier 1               | NO <sub>x</sub>                              |
| Fontaras et al.<br>(2009)      | Greece        | LDV          | Soybean   | Artemis Urban,<br>Road; UDC                 | Euro 2               | NO <sub>x</sub> , PM, HC, CO                 |
| Fontaras et al.<br>(2010)      | Greece        | LDV          | Palm, Rapeseed,<br>Sunflower oil,<br>UCO, Soybean | Artemis Urban,<br>Road, Motorway;<br>UDC    | Euro 3               | NO <sub>x</sub> , PM, HC                     |

| Study                     | Location                | Vehicle type | FAME<br>feedstock(s)   | Test cycle(s)  | Emission<br>standard | Pollutant(s)<br>measured     |
|---------------------------|-------------------------|--------------|--|--|----------------------|------------------------------|
| Frank et al.<br>(2004)    | United States           | HDV          | FAME   | FTP  | Tier 2               | NO <sub>x</sub> , PM, HC, CO |
| Ge et al. (2017)          | Korea                   | LDV          | Rapeseed   | Steady-state test  | _                    | NO <sub>x</sub> , PM, CO     |
| Geng et al.<br>(2019)     | United States/<br>China | HDV Engine   | UCO  | Steady-state test  | _                    | NO <sub>x</sub>              |
| Graboski et al.<br>(1996) | United States           | HDV          | Soybean  | FTP Transient<br>(Composite)                                     | Tier 1               | NO <sub>x</sub> , PM, HC, CO |
| Graboski et al.<br>(2003) | United States           | HDV          | Methyl-lard,<br>methyl-<br>canola, methyl<br>inedibletallow,<br>methyl edible-<br>tallow, methyl-<br>low free fatty<br>acid grease,<br>methyl-high<br>free acid grease,<br>methyl-laurate<br>(C12:0), methyl-<br>palmitate<br>(C16:0), methyl-<br>palmitate<br>(C16:0), methyl-<br>stearate (C18:0),<br>methyl-oleate<br>(C18:1), methyl-<br>linoleate C18:2),<br>methyllinolenate<br>(C18:3), methyl<br>soy (soyagold),<br>1:2 M-terate:<br>M-linseed,<br>methyl-<br>hydrogenated<br>soy, ethyl-<br>linoleate<br>(C18:2), ethyl-<br>linoleate<br>(C18:2), ethyl-<br>linseed, ethyl-<br>soy, ethyl-<br>hydrogenated<br>soy, ethyl- | FTP Transient  | Tier 1               | NO <sub>x</sub> , PM, HC, CO |
| Gautam (2013)             | India                   | Engine       | Jatropha   | Steady-state test  | -                    | NO <sub>x</sub> , HC, CO     |
| Guido (2013)              | Italy                   | LDV Engine   | Rapeseed   | Open/closed<br>loop operating<br>modes                           | Euro 5               | NO <sub>x</sub> , PM, HC, CO |
| Haas (2001)               | United States           | HDV          | Soybean,<br>Soapstock  | FTP Transient  | Tier 1               | NO <sub>x</sub> , PM, HC, CO |
| Han et al. (2008)         | United States           | LDV          | Soybean,<br>Coconut  | Ad-hoc<br>operating<br>points/Misc.                              | -                    | NO <sub>x</sub> , PM, HC, CO |
| Hansen & Jensen<br>(1997) | Denmark                 | HDV          | Rapeseed   | 5-mode test<br>(subset of ECE<br>R49)                            | Euro 2               | NO <sub>x</sub> , PM, HC, CO |
| Hearne (2005)             | United States           | HDV          | FAME   | Rowan<br>University<br>Composite<br>School Bus Cycle<br>(RUCSBC) | Tier 1               | NO <sub>x</sub> , PM, HC, CO |
| Holden et al.<br>(2011)   | United States           | HDV          | Soybean, UCO   | FTP Transient,<br>USO6, AVL<br>8-Mode, In-Use<br>Test            | Tier 1, Tier 2       | NOX, PM, HC, CO              |
| Kalam & Masjuki<br>(2008) | Malaysia                | HDV          | Palm   | Steady-state test  | -                    | NO <sub>x</sub> , HC, CO     |

| Study                                  | Location                | Vehicle type | FAME<br>feedstock(s)  | Test cycle(s)                             | Emission<br>standard | Pollutant(s)<br>measured     |
|--|-------------------------|--------------|---|---|----------------------|------------------------------|
| Karavalakis et al.<br>(2007)           | Greece                  | LDV          | Soybean   | Athens Driving<br>Cycle                   | Euro 2               | NO <sub>x</sub> , PM, HC, CO |
| Karavalakis et al.<br>(2009a)          | Greece                  | HDV          | Palm  | UDC, NEDC,<br>ADC                         | Euro 3               | NO <sub>x</sub> , PM, HC, CO |
| Karavalakis et al.<br>(2009b)          | Greece                  | LDV          | Soybean   | UDC, NEDC,<br>ADC                         | Euro 2               | NO <sub>x</sub> , PM, HC, CO |
| Karavalakis et al.<br>(2009c)          | Greece                  | LDV          | Rapeseed, Palm  | NEDC, UDC,<br>ADC                         | Euro 2               | NO <sub>x</sub> , PM, HC, CO |
| Karavalakis et al.<br>(2011)           | Greece                  | LDV          | Palm, Soybean,<br>Rapeseed<br>blended w/<br>sunflower oil and<br>UCO  | Artemis (full),<br>NEDC                   | Euro 4               | NO <sub>x</sub> , PM, HC, CO |
| Karavalakis et al.<br>(2016)           | United States           | LDV          | UCO   | UDDS, HHDDT<br>Transient                  | Tier 2               | NO <sub>x</sub> , PM, HC, CO |
| Kawano et al.<br>(2008)                | Japan                   | LDV          | Rapeseed  | JE05 Mode Test                            | Euro 5               | NO <sub>x</sub> , PM, HC, CO |
| Kaya et al. (2018)                     | Turkey                  | LDV          | FAME<br>(unspecified)   | NEDC, WLTC                                | Euro 5               | NO <sub>x</sub> , HC, CO     |
| Kinoshita et al.<br>(2003)             | Japan                   | Engine       | Palm, Rapeseed  | Steady-state test                         | _                    | NO <sub>x</sub> , HC, CO     |
| Kinoshita et al.<br>(2006)             | Japan                   | Engine       | Palm, Coconut,<br>Rapeseed  | Steady-state test                         | _                    | NO <sub>x</sub> , HC, CO     |
| Kinoshita et al.<br>(2011)             | Japan                   | Engine       | Palm, Rapeseed  | Steady-state test                         | _                    | NO <sub>x</sub>              |
| Knothe et al.<br>(2006)                | United States           | HDV          | Methyl soyate<br>(commercial<br>biodiesel),<br>methyl oleate,<br>methyl pamitate,<br>methyl laurate<br>(technical<br>biodiesel) | FTP Transient                             | Tier 2               | NO <sub>x</sub> , PM, HC, CO |
| Koszalka et al.<br>(2010)              | Poland                  | HDV          | FAME  | 13-mode ESC<br>test                       | Tier 2               | NO <sub>x</sub> , HC, CO     |
| Kousoulidou et<br>al. (2009)           | Greece                  | LDV          | Palm, Rapeseed  | NEDC; Artemis<br>Urban, Road,<br>Motorway | Euro 3               | NO <sub>x</sub> , PM, HC, CO |
| Krahl et al.<br>(2005)                 | Germany                 | HDV          | Rapeseed,<br>Rapeseed/<br>Soybean/Palm<br>oil blends  | 13-mode ESC<br>test                       | Euro 3               | NO <sub>x</sub> , PM, HC, CO |
| Krahl et al.<br>(2008)                 | Germany                 | HDV          | Rapeseed  | 13-mode ESC<br>test                       | Euro 4               | NO <sub>x</sub> , PM, HC, CO |
| Krahl et al.<br>(2009)                 | Germany                 | HDV          | Rapeseed  | 13-mode ESC<br>test                       | Euro 3               | NO <sub>x</sub> , PM, CO     |
| Lahane et al.<br>(2015)                | India                   | Engine       | Karanja   | Steady-state test                         | -                    | NO <sub>x</sub> , HC, CO     |
| Lance et al.<br>(2009)                 | United States/<br>Japan | LDV          | Jatropha,<br>Coconut,<br>Rapeseed   | NEDC                                      | Euro 4               | NO <sub>x</sub> , HC, CO     |
| Lapuerta et al.<br>(2008)              | Spain                   | LDV          | UCO, Sunflower<br>oil   | Various SS operating points               | Euro 4               | NO <sub>x</sub> , PM         |
| Leevijit &<br>Prateepchaikul<br>(2011) | Thailand                | Engine       | Palm  | Steady-state test                         | _                    | NO <sub>x</sub> , CO         |
| Lesnik et al.<br>(2013)                | Slovenia                | HDV Engine   | Rapeseed  | Steady-state test                         | _                    | NO <sub>x</sub> , CO         |

| Study                        | Location                          | Vehicle type | FAME<br>feedstock(s)                              | Test cycle(s)  | Emission<br>standard | Pollutant(s)<br>measured     |
|------------------------------|-----------------------------------|--------------|---|--|----------------------|------------------------------|
| Li et al. (2007)             | Europe                            | HDV          | Rapeseed  | 23 kW Hot-Start<br>SS  | Euro 2               | NO <sub>x</sub> , PM, HC, CO |
| Lim et al. (2014)            | Korea                             | LDV          | Soybean, UCO,<br>Jatropha, Palm,<br>Rapeseed      | NEDC   | Euro 4               | NO <sub>x</sub> , PM, HC, CO |
| Liotta &<br>Montalvo (1993)  | United States                     | HDV          | Soybean   | FTP Transient<br>(Hot Start)   | Tier 1               | NO <sub>x</sub> , PM, HC, CO |
| Lopez et al.<br>(2009)       | Spain                             | HDV          | FAME<br>(unspecified)                             | Transient Cycle  | Euro 4               | NO <sub>x</sub> , PM, HC, CO |
| Lujan et al.<br>(2009)       | Spain                             | LDV          | FAME<br>(unspecified)                             | NEDC   | Euro 4               | NO <sub>x</sub> , PM, HC, CO |
| Macor et al.<br>(2011)       | Italy                             | LDV          | Rapeseed  | UDC, Artemis<br>Urban  | Euro 4               | NO <sub>x</sub> , PM, HC, CO |
| Marshall et al.<br>(1995)    | United States                     | HDV          | Soybean   | FTP retarded timing  | Tier 1               | NO <sub>x</sub> , PM, HC, CO |
| Martini et al.<br>(2007)     | Italy/EU Joint<br>Research Centre | LDV          | 50/50 soybean<br>and sunflower,<br>Palm, Rapeseed | NEDC, EUDC   | Euro 3               | NO <sub>x</sub> , PM, HC, CO |
| Mazzoleni et al.<br>(2007)   | United States                     | HDV          | FAME  | On-road Driving<br>Cycle   | Tier 1               | NO <sub>x</sub> , PM, HC, CO |
| McCormick et al.<br>(1997)   | United States                     | HDV          | Soybean   | FTP Transient<br>(Hot Start)   | Tier 1               | NO <sub>x</sub> , PM, HC, CO |
| McCormick et al.<br>(2003)   | United States                     | HDV          | UCO, Soybean                                      | FTP Transient<br>(Composite)   | Tier 1               | NO <sub>x</sub> , PM, HC, CO |
| McCormick et al.<br>(2005)   | United States                     | HDV          | Soybean, UCO,<br>Rapeseed,<br>Animal fat          | FTP Transient  | Tier 1               | NO <sub>x</sub> , PM         |
| McCormick et al.<br>(2006)   | United States                     | HDV          | Soybean   | City-Suburban<br>Heavy Vehicle<br>Cycle (CSHVC),<br>UDDS, RUCSBC,<br>Freeway Cycle | Tier 1, Tier 2       | NO <sub>x</sub> , PM, HC, CO |
| McGill et al.<br>(2003)      | United States                     | LDV, HDV     | Rapeseed  | FTP 75, AVL<br>8-Mode  | Tier 1, Euro 2       | NO <sub>x</sub> , PM         |
| Mizushima &<br>Takada (2014) | Japan                             | HDV          | FAME  | JE05 "ED12"<br>transient test<br>cycle   | Euro 5               | NO <sub>x</sub> , PM         |
| Mofijur et al.<br>(2014)     | Malaysia                          | LDV          | Palm, M. oliefera<br>oil                          | Steady-state test  | Euro 2               | NO <sub>x</sub> , HC, CO     |
| Mormino et al.<br>(2009)     | Belgium                           | LDV          | Animal fat, Palm,<br>Rapeseed                     | Steady-state test  | _                    | NO <sub>x</sub> , HC         |
| Nabi et al.(2006)            | Bangladesh                        | Engine       | Neem oil  | Steady-state test  | —                    | NO <sub>x</sub> , CO         |
| Nathangopal et<br>al. (2018) | India                             | Engine       | Calophyllum<br>inophyllum                         | Steady-state test  | _                    | NO <sub>x</sub> , HC, CO     |
| Ng et al. (2011)             | Malaysia                          | LDV          | Palm  | Steady-state<br>(representative<br>of on-road<br>conditions)                       | _                    | NO <sub>x</sub> , HC, CO     |
| Ng et al. (2012)             | Malaysia                          | Engine       | Palm, Soybean,<br>Coconut                         | 7-mode ESC test  | Euro 2               | NO <sub>x</sub> , HC, CO     |
| Nikanjam et al.<br>(2009)    | United States                     | HDV          | Soybean   | UDDS   | Tier 2               | NO <sub>x</sub> , HC, CO     |
| Nuszkowki et al.<br>(2008)   | United States                     | HDV          | Soybean, Animal<br>fat, Cottonseed                | FTP Transient<br>(Hot Start)   | Tier 1               | NO <sub>x</sub> , PM, HC, CO |
| Olatunji et al.<br>(2010)    | United States                     | HDV          | Soybean, Animal<br>fat                            | Steady-state test  | Tier 2               | NO <sub>x</sub> , PM, HC, CO |
| Ozsezen &<br>Canakci (2010)  | Turkey                            | HDV          | Palm  | Steady-state test  | _                    | NO <sub>x</sub> , HC, CO     |

| Study                           | Location      | Vehicle type | FAME<br>feedstock(s)                     | Test cycle(s)                                       | Emission<br>standard | Pollutant(s)<br>measured     |
|---------------------------------|---------------|--------------|--|---|----------------------|------------------------------|
| Ozsezen &<br>Canakci (2011)     | Turkey        | Engine       | Palm, Rapeseed                           | Steady-state test                                   | _                    | NO <sub>x</sub> , HC, CO     |
| Pala-En et al.<br>(2013)        | United States | HDV          | Rapeseed, UCO,<br>Animal fat,<br>Soybean | UDDS, On-<br>road (highway,<br>arterial, idling)    | Tier 2               | NO <sub>x</sub> , PM, HC, CO |
| Payri et al.<br>(2005)          | Spain         | HDV          | UCO                                      | Steady-state test                                   | Euro 3               | NO <sub>x</sub> , PM, HC, CO |
| Peterson (2000)                 | United States | HDV          | Soybean                                  | FTP Transient<br>(Hot Start)                        | Tier 1               | NO <sub>x</sub> , PM, HC, CO |
| Peterson &<br>Reece (1996)      | United States | HDV          | Rapeseed Ethyl<br>Ester (REE)            | FTP Transient                                       | Tier 1               | NO <sub>x</sub> , PM, HC, CO |
| Proc et al.<br>(2006)           | United States | HDV          | FAME                                     | City-Suburban<br>Heavy Vehicle<br>Cycle (CSHVC)     | Tier 1               | NO <sub>x</sub> , PM, HC, CO |
| Prokopowicz et<br>al. (2015)    | Poland        | LDV          | Rapeseed                                 | NEDC, UDC,<br>EUDC                                  | Euro 4               | NO <sub>x</sub> , PM, HC, CO |
| Purcell et al.<br>(1996)        | United States | LDV          | Soybean                                  | Heavy Duty<br>Transient (U.S.<br>Bureau of Mines)   | Tier 1               | NO <sub>x</sub> , PM, HC, CO |
| Purcell et al.<br>(1996)        | United States | HDV          | Soybean                                  | Transient Cycle<br>(U.S. Bureau of Euro 1<br>Mines) |                      | NO <sub>x</sub> , PM, HC, CO |
| Rahman et al.<br>(2013)         | Malaysia      | Engine       | Palm,<br>Calophyllum<br>inophyllum       | Steady-state test —                                 |                      | NO <sub>x</sub> , HC, CO     |
| Rakopoulos et al.<br>(2008)     | Greece        | HDV          | Sunflower oil,<br>Cottonseed             | Steady-state test —                                 |                      | NO <sub>x</sub> , HC, CO     |
| Rantanen &<br>Mikkonen (1993)   | Finland       | HDV          | Rapeseed                                 | 13-mode ESC<br>test                                 | Tier 1               | NO <sub>x</sub> , PM, HC, CO |
| Rizwanal Fattah<br>(2014)       | Malaysia      | Engine       | Palm                                     | Steady-state test                                   | _                    | NO <sub>x</sub> , HC, CO     |
| Ropkins et al.<br>(2007)        | UK            | LDV          | Rapeseed                                 | UDC, EUDC, FTP<br>75                                | Euro 1               | NO <sub>x</sub>              |
| Rose et al.<br>(2010)           | Europe        | LDV          | Rapeseed                                 | NEDC, UDC,<br>EUDC                                  | Euro 4               | NO <sub>x</sub> , HC, CO     |
| Roy et al. (2013)               | Canada        | HDV Engine   | Rapeseed                                 | Steady-state test                                   | _                    | NO <sub>x</sub> , HC, CO     |
| Schumacher et<br>al. (1994)     | United States | HDV          | Soybean                                  | FTP Transient                                       | Euro 2               | NO <sub>x</sub> , PM, HC, CO |
| Schumacher et<br>al. (1996)     | United States | HDV          | Soybean                                  | FTP Transient                                       | Tier 1               | NO <sub>x</sub> , PM, HC, CO |
| Sedari et al.<br>(1999)         | Greece        | LDV, Engine  | Sunflower oil                            | On-road idling,<br>Steady-state                     | Euro 1               | NO <sub>x</sub>              |
| Serrano et al.<br>(2015)        | Portugal      | LDV          | Soybean                                  | NEDC, UDC,<br>EUDC                                  | Euro 5               | NO <sub>x</sub>              |
| Sharp (1994)                    | United States | HDV          | Soybean                                  | FTP Transient<br>(Hot Start)                        | Tier 1               | NO <sub>x</sub> , PM, HC, CO |
| Sharp (1996)                    | United States | HDV          | Rapeseed                                 | FTP Transient                                       | Tier 1               | NO <sub>x</sub> , PM, HC, CO |
| Sharp et al.<br>(2000)          | United States | HDV          | Soybean                                  | FTP Transient                                       | Tier 1               | NO <sub>x</sub> , PM, HC, CO |
| Sharp, Ryan, &<br>Knothe (2005) | United States | HDV          | Soybean                                  | FTP Transient<br>(Hot Start)                        | Tier 1               | NO <sub>x</sub> , PM, HC, CO |
| Shen et al.<br>(2018)           | China         | LDV          | Rapeseed                                 | PEMS (Non<br>Highway/<br>Highway<br>Driving)        | Euro 3, Euro 4       | NO <sub>x</sub> , PM, HC, CO |
| Sinha and Kumar<br>(2019)       | India         | Engine       | Jatropha                                 | Steady-state test                                   | _                    | NO <sub>x</sub> , HC, CO     |

| Study                        | Location      | Vehicle type | FAME<br>feedstock(s)                           | Test cycle(s)                                    | Emission<br>standard | Pollutant(s)<br>measured     |
|------------------------------|---------------|--------------|--|--|----------------------|------------------------------|
| Souligny et al.<br>(2004)    | Canada        | HDV          | Animal fat, UCO,<br>Vegetable oil              | FTP Transient                                    | Tier 1               | NO <sub>x</sub> , PM, HC, CO |
| Spataru and<br>Romig (1995)  | United States | HDV          | Rapeseed                                       | FTP Transient<br>(Hot Start)                     | Tier 1               | NO <sub>x</sub> , PM, HC, CO |
| Starr (1997)                 | United States | HDV          | Soybean  | FTP Transient                                    | Tier 1               | NO <sub>x</sub> , PM, HC, CO |
| Sze et al. (2007)            | United States | HDV          | Soybean  | HWY, FTP,<br>WHTC, UDDC<br>(6k, 28k)             | Tier 2               | NO <sub>x</sub> , PM, HC, CO |
| Tadano et al.<br>(2014)      | Brazil        | HDV          | Soybean  | 13-Mode ESC<br>test                              | Euro 5               | NO <sub>x</sub>              |
| Tatur et al.<br>(2009)       | United States | LDV          | Soybean  | FTP 75, HWFET                                    | Euro 4               | NO <sub>x</sub> , HC, CO     |
| Tian et al. (2013)           | China         | LDV          | Rapeseed                                       | Various  | —                    | NO <sub>x</sub> , PM, HC     |
| Tompkins et al.<br>(2009)    | United States | Engine       | Palm   | Steady-state test                                | _                    | NO <sub>x</sub>              |
| Tzirakis et al.<br>(2007)    | Greece        | LDV          | UCO  | On-road (urban<br>driving) Euro 4                |                      | NO <sub>x</sub> , CO         |
| Ullman et al.<br>(1983)      | United States | HDV          | Soybean  | 1979 13-mode<br>Federal Test Tier 1<br>Procedure |                      | NO <sub>x</sub> , PM, HC, CO |
| Usta (2005)                  | Turkey        | Engine       | Tobacco seed oil                               | Steady-state test                                | —                    | NO <sub>x</sub> , CO         |
| van Niekerk et al.<br>(2019) | UK            | LDV          | FAME<br>(unspecified)                          | WLTC   | Euro 4               | NO <sub>x</sub> , CO         |
| Wallington et al.<br>(2016)  | United States | LDV          | Butyl Nonanoate                                | FTP 75, HWFET,<br>US06                           | Euro 4               | NO <sub>x</sub> , PM, HC, CO |
| Wang et al.<br>(2000)        | United States | HDV          | Soybean  | WVU 5 peak<br>truck cycle                        | Tier 1               | NO <sub>x</sub> , PM, HC, CO |
| Wirawan et al.<br>(2008)     | Indonesia     | LDV          | Palm   | UDC and EUDC                                     | Euro 2               | NO <sub>x</sub> , PM, HC, CO |
| Wu et al. (2009)             | China         | HDV Engine   | Coconut,<br>Rapeseed,<br>Soybean, Palm,<br>UCO | Steady-state test                                | Euro 3               | NO <sub>x</sub> , PM, HC, CO |
| Yasin et al.(2015)           | Malaysia/Iran | LDV          | Palm   | Steady-state test                                | —                    | NO <sub>x</sub> , HC, CO     |
| Yoshida et al.<br>(2008)     | Japan         | LDV          | Rapeseed                                       | NEDC   | Euro 5               | NO <sub>x</sub> , PM, HC, CO |
| Zhu, Cheung et<br>al. (2010) | China         | HDV Engine   | UCO  | Steady-state test                                | Euro 5               | NO <sub>x</sub> , PM, HC, CO |
| Zhu, Zhang et al.<br>(2010)  | China         | HDV          | Palm, Rapeseed,<br>UCO                         | Steady-state test                                | _                    | NO <sub>x</sub>              |

## APPENDIX C - EMISSION TEST CYCLES SUMMARY

| Test cycle                            | Description  | Compliance<br>location   | Vehicle<br>type | Avg speed<br>(km/hr) | Comments   |
|---------------------------------------|--|--------------------------|-----------------|----------------------|--|
| FTP                                   | Heavy-duty engine certification cycle  | United States            | HDV             | 30                   | Adherent to Code of Federal<br>Regulations 40 CFR 86   |
| UDDS (6k, 28k)                        | Urban Dynamometer Driving<br>Schedule  | United States            | HDV             | 30.4                 | -  |
| AVL 8-Mode                            | Steady State (SS) test<br>developed by AVL   | United States            | HDV             | _                    | 8 SS modes (comparable to FTP test)  |
| wнтс                                  | World Harmonized Transient<br>Cycle  | International            | HDV             | -                    | Developed by the UN ECE GRPE technical group   |
| NEDC                                  | New European Driving Cycle   | Europe/<br>International | LDV             | 33.35                | Previously called the MVEG-A<br>cycle (4 runs of UDC, one run of<br>EUDC)                    |
| ECE R-49                              | Test cycle introduced via<br>Regulation ECE No. 49   | Europe/<br>International | HDV             | _                    | 13-mode SS procedure (used<br>for heavy engine certification<br>through Euro II)             |
| ESC                                   | European Stationary Cycle  | Europe/<br>International | HDV             | _                    | 13-mode SS procedure which<br>replaced R-49 test (Euro III stage<br>on)                      |
| UDC                                   | Urban Driving Cycle  | Europe                   | LDV             | 18.35                | Also called the ECE-15   |
| EUDC                                  | Extra-Urban Driving Cycle  | Europe                   | LDV             | 62.59                | Representative of aggressive urban driving   |
| Artemis Driving<br>Cycle (Urban)      | Assessment and Reliability of<br>Transport Emission Models and<br>Inventory Systems              | Europe                   | LDV             | 17.7                 | Statistical analysis of real-world driving conditions in EU                                  |
| Artemis Driving<br>Cycle (Rural Road) | Assessment and Reliability of<br>Transport Emission Models and<br>Inventory Systems              | Europe                   | LDV             | 57.5                 | Statistical analysis of real-world driving conditions in EU                                  |
| Artemis Driving<br>Cycle (Motorway)   | Assessment and Reliability of<br>Transport Emission Models and<br>Inventory Systems              | Europe                   | LDV             | 96.9                 | Statistical analysis of real-world driving conditions in EU                                  |
| CSHVC                                 | City-Suburban Heavy Vehicle<br>Cycle   | United States            | HDV             | 22.77                | Developed by Vehicle Emissions<br>Testing Laboratory at West<br>Virginia University (WVU)    |
| WVU 5-Peak/5-<br>Mile Cycles          | Cycles developed by the<br>Vehice Emissions Testing<br>Laboratory at West Virginia<br>University | United States            | HDV             | 48.3                 | Developed at WVU; In 5-mile<br>cycle, vehicle reaches peak<br>speeds under high acceleration |
| JE-05                                 | Transient cycle introduced via<br>2005 emissions standards                                       | Japan                    | HDV             | 26.94                | _  |